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PART 1—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.    Financial Statements 

TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(Unaudited) 

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2011  2010  2011  2010  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  
Revenue  $ 13,101 $ 15,204 $ 43,951 $ 48,013 
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below)   1,001  1,346  3,529  3,654 
          

 Gross margin   12,100  13,858  40,422  44,359 
Operating expenses              
 Selling and marketing expense   8,475  12,944  39,246  38,901 
 General and administrative expense   4,388  6,295  15,059  18,666 
 Product development   681  805  2,677  2,554 
 Litigation settlements and contingencies   212  74  5,206  102 
 Restructuring expense   498  46  990  2,718 
 Amortization of intangibles   213  307  787  922 
 Depreciation   1,393  823  3,677  2,297 
 Asset impairments   —  —  250  — 
          

  Total operating expenses   15,860  21,294  67,892  66,160 
          

  Operating loss   (3,760)  (7,436)  (27,470)  (21,801)
Other income (expense)              
 Interest income   —  —  —  7 
 Interest expense   (110)  (60)  (266)  (392)
          

Total other expense, net   (110)  (60)  (266)  (385)
          

Loss before income taxes   (3,870)  (7,496)  (27,736)  (22,186)
Income tax benefit (provision)   185  (42)  (117)  (850)
          

Net loss from continuing operations   (3,685)  (7,538)  (27,853)  (23,036)
          

Gain from sale of discontinued operations, net of tax   7,752  —  7,752  — 
Income (loss) from operations of discontinued operations, net of tax   8,531  9,357  (24,615)  17,910 
          

Income (loss) from discontinued operations   16,283  9,357  (16,863)  17,910 
          

Net income (loss) available to common shareholders  $ 12,598 $ 1,819 $ (44,716) $ (5,126)
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Weighted average common shares outstanding   11,037  11,023  10,978  10,993 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding   11,120  11,163  10,978  10,993 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Net loss per share from continuing operations              
 Basic  $ (0.33) $ (0.68) $ (2.54) $ (2.10)
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 Diluted  $ (0.33) $ (0.68) $ (2.54) $ (2.10)
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Net income (loss) per share available to common shareholders              
 Basic  $ 1.14 $ 0.16 $ (4.07) $ (0.47)
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 Diluted  $ 1.13 $ 0.16 $ (4.07) $ (0.47)
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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September 30,

2011  
December 31,

2010  

  

(unaudited)
(In thousands, except
par value and share

amounts)  
ASSETS:        
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 10,331 $ 68,819 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents   12,955  8,155 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $118 and $131, respectively   5,443  3,564 
Prepaid and other current assets   1,038  1,043 
Current assets of discontinued operations   203,950  130,701 
      

 Total current assets   233,717  212,282 
Property and equipment, net   9,191  7,598 
Goodwill   3,632  3,632 
Intangible assets, net   40,295  41,319 
Other non-current assets   241  116 
Non-current assets of discontinued operations   10,094  17,855 
      

 Total assets  $ 297,170 $ 282,802 
  

 
 

 
 

LIABILITIES:        
Accounts payable, trade  $ 11,691 $ 6,562 
Deferred revenue   216  312 
Deferred income taxes   4,221  2,358 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   19,116  23,881 
Current liabilities of discontinued operations   167,565  118,220 
      

 Total current liabilities   202,809  151,333 
Income taxes payable   59  96 
Other long-term liabilities   4,156  3,168 
Deferred income taxes   12,201  13,962 
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations   18,797  12,422 
      

 Total liabilities   238,022  180,981 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)        
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:        
Preferred stock $.01 par value; authorized 5,000,000 shares; none issued or outstanding   —  — 
Common stock $.01 par value; authorized 50,000,000 shares; issued 12,165,992 and

11,893,468 shares, respectively, and outstanding 11,042,731 and 10,770,207 shares,
respectively   121  118 

Additional paid-in capital   910,877  908,837 
Accumulated deficit   (843,318)  (798,602)
Treasury stock 1,123,261 shares   (8,532)  (8,532)
      

 Total shareholders' equity   59,148  101,821 
      

 Total liabilities and shareholders' equity  $ 297,170 $ 282,802 
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

(Unaudited) 

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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    Common Stock      Treasury Stock  

  Total  
Number of

Shares  Amount  

Additional
Paid-in
Capital  

Accumulated
Deficit  

Number of
Shares  Amount  

  (In thousands)  
Balance as of December 31, 2010  $ 101,821  11,893 $ 118 $ 908,837 $ (798,602)  1,123 $ (8,532)
Comprehensive loss:                       

 

Net loss for the nine months ended
September 30, 2011   (44,716)  —  —  —  (44,716)  —  — 

                      

Comprehensive loss   (44,716)  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Non-cash compensation   2,993  —  —  2,993  —  —  — 
Issuance of common stock upon

exercise of stock options and
vesting of restricted stock units,
net of withholding taxes   (950)  273  3  (953)  —  —  — 

                

Balance as of September 30, 2011  $ 59,148  12,166 $ 121 $ 910,877 $ (843,318)  1,123 $ (8,532)
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(Unaudited) 

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2011  2010  
  (In thousands)  
Cash flows from operating activities attributable to continuing operations:        
Net loss  $ (44,716) $ (5,126)
Less (income) loss from discontinued operations, net of tax   16,863  (17,910)
      

Net loss from continuing operations   (27,853)  (23,036)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss from continuing operations to net cash used in operating activities

attributable to continuing operations:        
 Loss on disposal of fixed assets   210  3 
 Amortization of intangibles   787  922 
 Depreciation   3,677  2,297 
 Intangible impairment   250  — 
 Non-cash compensation expense   2,731  2,423 
 Non-cash restructuring expense   —  93 
 Deferred income taxes   101  1,023 
 Bad debt expense   32  45 
Changes in current assets and liabilities:        
 Accounts receivable   (1,911)  212 
 Prepaid and other current assets   (122)  (898)
 Accounts payable and other current liabilities   385  (15,658)
 Income taxes payable   (58)  (388)
 Deferred revenue   (96)  (155)
 Other, net   988  3,043 
      

Net cash used in operating activities attributable to continuing operations   (20,879)  (30,074)
      

Cash flows from investing activities attributable to continuing operations:        
 Capital expenditures   (5,480)  (3,743)
 Acquisitions   —  (50)
 Other, net   (1,488)  2,186 
      

Net cash used in investing activities attributable to continuing operations   (6,968)  (1,607)
      

Cash flows from financing activities attributable to continuing operations:        
 Issuance of common stock, net of withholding taxes   (950)  (575)
 Purchase of treasury stock   —  (4,705)
 (Increase) decrease in restricted cash   (3,325)  150 
      

Net cash used in financing activities attributable to continuing operations   (4,275)  (5,130)
      

Total cash used in continuing operations   (32,122)  (36,811)
      

Net cash used in operating activities attributable to discontinued operations   (58,317)  (52,362)
Net cash used in investing activities attributable to discontinued operations   (9,310)  (1,256)
Net cash provided by financing activities attributable to discontinued operations   41,261  61,630 
      

Total cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations   (26,366)  8,012 
      

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (58,488)  (28,799)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   68,819  86,093 
      

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 10,331 $ 57,294 
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION

Company Overview

        Tree.com, Inc. ("we," "Tree.com" or the "Company") is the parent of LendingTree, LLC, which owns several brands and businesses that provide information,
tools, advice, products and services for critical transactions in our customers' lives. Our family of brands includes: LendingTree.com®, GetSmart.com®,
DegreeTree.comSM, HealthTree.comSM, LendingTreeAutos.com, DoneRight.com®, and InsuranceTree.comSM. Together, these brands serve as an ally for
consumers who are looking to comparison shop for loans and other services from multiple businesses and professionals that will compete for their business.

Segment Reporting

        The overall concept that Tree.com employs in determining its reportable segments and related financial information is to present them in a manner consistent
with how the chief operating decision maker and executive management view the Tree.com businesses, how the businesses are organized as to segment
management, and the focus of the Tree.com businesses with regards to the types of products or services offered or the target market.

        Through the quarter ended March 31, 2011, we operated in two reportable business segments: LendingTree Loans and Exchanges. The LendingTree Loans
segment originates, processes, approves and funds various residential real estate loans through Home Loan Center, Inc. dba LendingTree Loans ("HLC"). The
HLC and LendingTree Loans brand names are collectively referred to in these consolidated financial statements as "LendingTree Loans." The Exchanges segment
consists of online lead generation networks and call centers that connect consumers and service providers principally in the lending, higher education, home
services, insurance and automobile marketplaces.

        In connection with entering into an agreement in the second quarter of 2011 that provides for the sale of substantially all of the operating assets of our
LendingTree Loans segment to Discover Bank that is discussed below and in Note 6, the Company re-evaluated its reporting segments based on the continuing
operations of the Company. We have determined that our continuing operations are now one reportable segment, which represents the previous "Exchanges"
segment.

        Tree.com maintains operations solely in the United States.

Discontinued Operations

        The businesses of RealEstate.com and RealEstate.com, REALTORS® (which together represent the former Real Estate segment) and LendingTree Loans are
presented as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for all periods
presented. The notes accompanying these consolidated financial statements reflect our continuing operations and, unless otherwise noted, exclude information
related to the discontinued operations.

Real Estate

        On March 10, 2011, management of the Company made the decision and finalized a plan to close all of the field offices of the proprietary full service real
estate brokerage business known as RealEstate.com, REALTORS®. The Company exited all markets by March 31, 2011. In September
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION (Continued)

2011, the Company sold the remaining assets of RealEstate.com, which consisted primarily of internet domain names and trademarks, for $8.3 million and
recognized a gain on sale of $7.8 million.

LendingTree Loans

        On May 12, 2011, we entered into an asset purchase agreement with Discover Bank, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Discover Financial Services. The asset
purchase agreement provides for the sale of substantially all of the operating assets of our LendingTree Loans business to Discover Bank.

        Under the terms of the asset purchase agreement, Discover Bank has agreed to pay approximately $55.9 million in cash for the assets, subject to certain
adjustments as described in the asset purchase agreement. $35.9 million is due upon the closing of the transaction and $10 million is due on each of the first and
second anniversaries of the closing, subject to certain conditions as described in the asset purchase agreement, including maintenance of the LendingTree
Exchange and certain financial and operational metrics associated with the LendingTree Exchange business, for which we are compliant.

        Discover Bank generally will not assume liabilities of the LendingTree Loans business that arose before the closing date, except for certain liabilities directly
related to assets included in the purchase. A portion of the initial purchase price payment will be held in escrow pending the discharge of certain liabilities that
will remain with us.

        The transaction is subject to various closing conditions, including the receipt of regulatory approvals and loan repurchase proposals for Discover Bank. Our
stockholders approved the transaction on August 26, 2011.

        The asset purchase agreement contains customary representations, warranties, covenants and indemnification obligations of the parties.

        The asset purchase agreement also includes covenants of us (for which we are compliant) and Discover Bank. Subject to certain exceptions stated in the asset
purchase agreement, we have agreed to operate the LendingTree Loans business in the ordinary course and to maintain certain operational and financial metrics
until the closing of the transaction. Our covenants include requirements to maintain personnel in our LendingTree Loans business, to maintain certain quality
thresholds for our loan pipeline, to maintain warehouse line capacity and compliance with our warehouse lending agreement, and subject to certain exceptions,
not to introduce new loan products without Discover Bank's consent. If the requirements of these covenants are not met, Discover Bank has the option to
terminate the asset purchase agreement. Subject to certain exceptions, we have also agreed not to solicit or initiate discussion with third parties regarding other
proposals to acquire the assets of the LendingTree Loans business or substantial equity interests in our company, and to certain restrictions on our ability to
respond to or accept any such proposals.

        The asset purchase agreement also includes customary termination provisions, including that each of our company and Discover Bank may terminate the
asset purchase agreement if the other party has materially breached any representation, warranty or covenant contained in the asset purchase agreement and failed
to cure such breach, if the closing has not occurred within 150 days from the signing (subject to certain extensions for up to 150 additional days). Discover Bank
may terminate the asset purchase agreement if our board of directors determines, after considering any modified proposals from Discover Bank, to change its
recommendation to our stockholders because a failure to do so would constitute a breach of its fiduciary duties, or if we materially breach our non-solicitation
obligations. If the asset

8
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION (Continued)

purchase agreement is terminated under certain circumstances, including due to a change of recommendation by our board of directors, we will be required to pay
Discover Bank a termination fee of $2.2 million. If Discover Bank does not complete the acquisition as a result of its inability to obtain proposals for loan
purchase arrangements that are customary for a bank that is similarly situated to Discover Bank, Discover Bank will be required to pay us a termination fee of $5
million.

        On November 7, 2011, Discover Bank elected to extend the end date upon which either party could terminate the Asset Purchase Agreement by 30 days to
December 8, 2011, and paid the required extension payment of $1.0 million to the Company's HLC, Inc. subsidiary. Discover Bank is permitted up to three
additional 30-day extensions in certain circumstances. Discover Bank must pay a $1.0 million extension fee to HLC, Inc. to exercise each of the second and third
extensions and a $2.0 million extension to exercise the fourth extension. All extension payments, including the one received in November, will be credited against
the purchase price due at closing. For a more complete discussion of the closing conditions, end date extension rights and associated fees, termination fees and
other provisions of the Asset Purchase Agreement, please see the Company's definitive proxy statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 2, 2011.

        Separate from the asset purchase agreement, Tree.com has also agreed to provide certain marketing related services to Discover Bank in connection with its
mortgage origination business for a two-year term commencing on the date of entry into the asset purchase agreement. Discover Bank has also agreed to be a
participating lender in the LendingTree Network following the closing of the acquisition.

Business Combinations

        On March 15, 2011, Tree.com, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, HLC, completed its acquisition of certain assets of First Residential Mortgage
Network, Inc. dba SurePoint Lending ("SurePoint") and certain shareholders of SurePoint. The Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Agreement") was previously
announced on November 16, 2010. SurePoint, a LendingTree network lender for eleven years, was a full service residential mortgage provider licensed in 45
states and employing over 500 people, including more than 300 licensed loan officers. The Agreement provides for the purchase by HLC of certain specified
assets and liabilities of SurePoint related to its business of originating, refinancing, processing, underwriting, funding and closing residential mortgage loans;
providing title and escrow services; and providing other mortgage related services, as further described in the Agreement. The acquired assets also include all of
the equity interests of Real Estate Title Services, LLC. Under the terms of the Agreement, HLC paid $8.0 million in cash upon the closing of the transaction,
subject to certain adjustments as described in the Agreement. The Company used available cash to fund the acquisition.

        This asset purchase is being accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the purchase price is allocated to the acquired assets and
liabilities based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. The purchase price has been allocated as $5.6 million to goodwill, $0.7 million to intangible
assets with useful lives of three months to five years, and $1.7 million to equipment and other assets. The pro forma effect of this purchase was not material to our
results of operations.

9
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 1—ORGANIZATION (Continued)

Basis of Presentation

        The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2011 and 2010 and for the three and nine months then ended
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for interim financial information and the rules
and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by
generally accepted accounting principles for annual financial statements. In the opinion of the Company's management, the unaudited interim consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements, and include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of the Company's financial position for the periods presented. The results for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2011 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2011, or any other period. These financial
statements and notes should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's annual report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2010.

NOTE 2—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting Estimates

        Tree.com's management is required to make certain estimates and assumptions during the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). These estimates and assumptions impact the reported amount of assets and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. They also impact the reported amount of net earnings during
any period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

        Significant estimates underlying the accompanying consolidated financial statements, including discontinued operations, include: valuation allowance for
impaired loans held for sale; loan loss obligations; the fair value of loans held for sale and related derivatives; the recoverability of long-lived assets, goodwill and
intangible assets; the determination of income taxes payable and deferred income taxes, including related valuation allowances; restructuring reserves; contingent
consideration related to business combinations; various other allowances, reserves and accruals; and assumptions related to the determination of stock-based
compensation.

Reclassifications

        Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current presentation with no effect on net income (loss) or accumulated deficit.
Specifically, certain costs within continuing operations totaling $0.1 million for both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010 were reclassified from
general and administrative expense to litigation settlements and contingencies.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

        Cash and cash equivalents include cash and short-term, highly liquid money market investments.

10
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 2—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Restricted Cash

        Restricted cash and cash equivalents consists of the following (in thousands):

New Accounting Pronouncements

        On January 21, 2010, the FASB amended and Tree.com adopted the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures, which added new
requirements for disclosures about transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 and separate disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements relating to
Level 3 measurements. The amendment also clarifies existing fair value disclosures about the level of disaggregation and the inputs and valuation techniques used
to measure fair value. This amendment is effective for the first reporting period (including interim periods) beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the
requirement to provide the Level 3 activity of purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on a gross basis, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2010, and for interim periods within those fiscal years. See Note 6 for further information.

        On September 15, 2011, the FASB issued the updated accounting standard on testing goodwill for impairment. The update simplifies how an entity tests
goodwill for impairment. The amendments allow both public and nonpublic entities an option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is
necessary to perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test. Under that option, an entity no longer would be required to calculate the fair value of a
reporting unit unless the entity determines, based on that qualitative assessment, that it is more likely than not that its fair value is less than its carrying amount.
The amendments will be effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. Early adoption
is permitted. The Company does not plan to early adopt and believes this will not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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September 30,

2011  
December 31,

2010  
Cash in escrow for surety bonds  $ 6,500 $ 5,030 
Cash in escrow for corporate purchasing card program   800  800 
Minimum required balances for warehouse lines of credit   5,250  1,925 
Other   405  400 
      

 Total restricted cash and cash equivalents  $ 12,955 $ 8,155 
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 3—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

        The balance of goodwill and intangible assets, net is as follows (in thousands):

        Intangible assets with indefinite lives relate principally to the LendingTree trademarks.

        At September 30, 2011, intangible assets with definite lives relate to the following (in thousands):

        At December 31, 2010, intangible assets with definite lives relate to the following (in thousands):
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September 30,

2011  
December 31,

2010  
Goodwill  $ 3,632 $ 3,632 
  

 
 

 
 

Intangible assets with indefinite lives  $ 39,142 $ 39,142 
Intangible assets with definite lives, net   1,153  2,177 
      

 Total intangible assets, net  $ 40,295 $ 41,319 
  

 
 

 
 

  Cost  
Accumulated
Amortization  Net  

Weighted
Average

Amortization
Life (Years)  

Purchase agreements  $ 50,436 $ (50,306) $ 130  5.0 
Technology   25,194  (24,998)  196  3.0 
Customer lists   6,682  (6,030)  652  4.2 
Other   1,517  (1,342)  175  2.5 
           

 Total  $ 83,829 $ (82,676) $ 1,153    
  

 
 

 
 

 
    

  Cost  
Accumulated
Amortization  Net  

Weighted
Average

Amortization
Life (Years)  

Purchase agreements  $ 50,436 $ (50,271) $ 165  5.0 
Technology   26,091  (25,438)  653  3.0 
Customer lists   6,682  (5,986)  696  4.1 
Other   1,609  (946)  663  2.5 
           

 Total  $ 84,818 $ (82,641) $ 2,177    
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 3—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

        Amortization of intangible assets with definite lives is computed on a straight-line basis and, based on September 30, 2011 balances, such amortization for
the next five years is estimated to be as follows (in thousands):

NOTE 4—PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

        The balance of property and equipment, net is as follows (in thousands):

13

  Amount  
Three months ending December 31, 2011  $ 107 
Year ending December 31, 2012   363 
Year ending December 31, 2013   143 
Year ending December 31, 2014   84 
Year ending December 31, 2015   60 
Thereafter   396 
    

 Total  $ 1,153 
  

 
 

  
September 30,

2011  
December 31,

2010  
Computer equipment and capitalized software  $ 26,053 $ 19,898 
Leasehold improvements   2,042  1,382 
Furniture and other equipment   1,450  1,362 
Projects in progress   638  2,780 
      

  30,183  25,422 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization   (20,992)  (17,824)
      

 Total property and equipment, net  $ 9,191 $ 7,598 
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 5—ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

        Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

        The other category above reflects an earnout payable related to an acquisition, franchise taxes, self-insured health claims and other miscellaneous accrued
expenses.

        An additional $1.0 million and $1.2 million of accrued restructuring liabilities are classified in other long term liabilities at September 30, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, respectively.

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

        On March 10, 2011, management of the Company made the decision and finalized a plan to close all of the field offices of the proprietary full service real
estate brokerage business known as RealEstate.com, REALTORS®. The Company exited all markets by March 31, 2011. In September 2011, the Company sold
the remaining assets of RealEstate.com, which consisted primarily of internet domain names and trademarks. Accordingly, these Real Estate businesses are
presented as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for all periods
presented.

        On May 12, 2011, we entered into an asset purchase agreement with Discover Bank, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Discover Financial Services, which
provides for the sale of substantially all of the operating assets of our LendingTree Loans business to Discover Bank. The Company has evaluated the facts and
circumstances of the pending transaction and the applicable accounting guidance for discontinued operations, and has concluded that the LendingTree Loans
business should be reflected as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statements of operations and cash flows
for all periods presented.
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September 30,

2011  
December 31,

2010  
Litigation accruals  $ 3,726 $ 520 
Accrued advertising expense   3,054  8,511 
Accrued compensation and benefits   332  2,766 
Accrued professional fees   1,083  1,166 
Accrued restructuring costs   764  1,199 
Customer deposits and escrows   2,234  2,240 
Deferred rent   180  379 
Other   7,743  7,100 
      

 Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities  $ 19,116 $ 23,881 
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

        The revenue and net income (loss) for the Real Estate businesses that are reported as discontinued operations for the applicable periods were as follows (in
thousands):

 

        Net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 includes goodwill disposal charges totaling $8.0 million, trademark impairment charges of
$4.1 million and restructuring charges totaling $2.5 million.

        The revenue and net income (loss) for LendingTree Loans that are reported as discontinued operations for the applicable periods were as follows (in
thousands):

15

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
  2011  2010  
Revenue  $ 515 $ 3,213 
  

 
 

 
 

Loss before income taxes  $ (637) $ (1,182)
Income tax provision   —  — 
Gain from sale of discontinued operations   7,752  — 
      

Net income (loss)  $ 7,115 $ (1,182)
  

 
 

 
 

  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2011  2010  
Revenue  $ 3,633 $ 11,825 
  

 
 

 
 

Loss before income taxes  $ (16,936) $ (4,454)
Income tax provision   —  — 
Gain from sale of discontinued operations   7,752  — 
      

Net loss  $ (9,184) $ (4,454)
  

 
 

 
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  
  2011  2010  
Revenue  $ 37,094 $ 34,760 
  

 
 

 
 

Income before income taxes  $ 9,168 $ 10,539 
Income tax provision   —  — 
      

Net income  $ 9,168 $ 10,539 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

 

        Net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 includes restructuring charges totaling $4.0 million.

        The assets and liabilities of Real Estate that are reported as discontinued operations as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 were as follows (in
thousands):
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Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2011  2010  
Revenue  $ 81,726 $ 87,147 
  

 
 

 
 

Income (loss) before income taxes  $ (7,679) $ 22,364 
Income tax provision   —  — 
      

Net income (loss)  $ (7,679) $ 22,364 
  

 
 

 
 

  
September 30,

2011  
December 31,

2010  
Current assets  $ 137 $ 305 
      

Property and equipment   —  2,123 
Goodwill   —  7,967 
Other non-current assets   —  4,285 
      

 Non-current assets   —  14,375 
      

Current liabilities   1,248  1,213 
Non-current liabilities   92  288 
      

Net assets (liabilities)  $ (1,203) $ 13,179 
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

        The assets and liabilities of LendingTree Loans that are reported as discontinued operations as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 were as
follows (in thousands):

Significant Assets and Liabilities of LendingTree Loans

        Upon closing of the sale of substantially all of the operating assets of our LendingTree Loans business to Discover Bank, LendingTree Loans will cease to
originate consumer loans and will no longer have additional borrowings available under the warehouse lines of credit. The remaining operations will be wound
down over the quarter following the closing of the transaction. These wind-down activities include selling the balance of loans held for sale to investors, which
historically has occurred within thirty days of funding, and paying off and then terminating the lines of credit. Additionally, the liability for losses on previously
sold loans will remain with LendingTree Loans. Below is a discussion of these significant items.

Loans Held for Sale

        LendingTree Loans originates all of its residential real estate loans with the intent to sell them in the secondary market. Loans held for sale consist primarily
of residential first mortgage loans that are secured by residential real estate throughout the United States.
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September 30,

2011  
December 31,

2010  
Loans held for sale  $ 185,295 $ 116,681 
Other current assets   18,518  13,715 
      

 Current assets   203,813  130,396 
      

Property and equipment   3,406  3,074 
Goodwill   5,579  — 
Other non-current assets   1,108  406 
      

 Non-current assets   10,094  3,480 
      

Warehouse lines of credit   141,883  100,623 
Other current liabilities   24,434  16,384 
      

 Current liabilities   166,317  117,007 
      

Non-current liabilities   18,705  12,134 
      

Net assets (liabilities)  $ 28,885 $ 4,735 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

        The following table represents the loans held for sale by type of loan as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 ($ amounts in thousands):

        The following presents the difference between the aggregate principal balance of loans on nonaccrual status for which the fair value option has been elected
and for loans measured at lower of cost or market valuation as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 (in thousands):

 

        Included within the loans on nonaccrual status are repurchased loans with a net book value of $-0- and $0.2 million at September 30, 2011 and December 31,
2010, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2011, LendingTree Loans did not repurchase any loans, but sold fifteen loans on nonaccrual
status for $1.2 million, which approximated the net book value. During the nine months ended September 30, 2010, LendingTree Loans repurchased one loan
with a balance of $0.3 million.
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September 30,

2011  
December 31,

2010  
  Amount  %  Amount  %  
Conforming  $ 153,561  83% $ 86,451  74%
FHA and Alt-A   20,778  11%  20,431  18%
Jumbo   10,956  6%  9,129  8%
Subprime   —  —%  580  —%
Home equity   —  —%  90  —%
          

Total  $ 185,295  100% $ 116,681  100%
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  As of September 30, 2011  

  

Loans on
Nonaccrual—
Measured at
Fair Value  

Loans on
Nonaccrual—
Measured at

LOCOM  
Total Loans on

Nonaccrual  
Aggregate unpaid principal balance  $ 558 $ — $ 558 
Difference between fair value and aggregate

unpaid principal balance   (250)  —  (250)
        

Loans on nonaccrual  $ 308 $ — $ 308 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  As of December 31, 2010  

  

Loans on
Nonaccrual—
Measured at
Fair Value  

Loans on
Nonaccrual—
Measured at

LOCOM  
Total Loans on

Nonaccrual  
Aggregate unpaid principal balance  $ 1,380 $ 2,290 $ 3,670 
Difference between fair value and aggregate

unpaid principal balance   (496)  —  (496)
Lower of cost or market valuation allowance   —  (1,508)  (1,508)
Deferred loan fees, net of costs   —  (9)  (9)
        

Loans on nonaccrual  $ 884 $ 773 $ 1,657 
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

Fair Value Measurements

        Tree.com categorizes its assets and liabilities measured at fair value into a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the assumptions used in pricing the asset or
liability into the following three levels:

• Level 1:    Observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in active markets obtained from independent sources. 

• Level 2:    Other inputs that are observable directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted
prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by
observable market data. 

• Level 3:    Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data and which require Tree.com to develop its own assumptions, based on
the best information available in the circumstances, about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

        LendingTree Loans enters into commitments with consumers to originate loans at a specified interest rate (interest rate lock commitments—"IRLCs").
Tree.com reports IRLCs as derivative instruments at fair value with changes in fair value being recorded in discontinued operations. IRLCs for loans to be sold to
investors using a mandatory or assignment of trade ("AOT") method are hedged using "to be announced mortgage-backed securities" ("TBA MBS") and are
valued using quantitative risk models. The IRLCs derive their base value from an underlying loan type with similar characteristics using the TBA MBS market
which is actively quoted and easily validated through external sources. The most significant data inputs used in this valuation include, but are not limited to, loan
type, underlying loan amount, note rate, loan program, and expected sale date of the loan. IRLCs for loans sold to investors on a best efforts basis are hedged
using best efforts forward delivery commitments and are valued on an individual loan basis using a proprietary database program. These valuations are based on
investor pricing tables stratified by product, note rate and term. The valuation is adjusted at the loan level to consider the servicing release premium and loan
pricing adjustments specific to each loan. The Company applies an anticipated loan funding probability based on its own experience to value IRLCs, which
results in the classification of these derivatives as Level 3. The value of the underlying loan and the anticipated loan funding probability are the most significant
assumptions affecting the valuation of IRLCs. There were no significant changes to the methods and assumptions for valuing IRLCs in the period ended
September 30, 2011. At September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, there were $454.0 million and $216.6 million, respectively, of IRLCs notional value
outstanding.

        Loans held for sale measured at fair value and sold to investors using a mandatory or AOT method are also hedged using TBA MBS and valued using
quantitative risk models. The valuation is based on the loan amount, note rate, loan program, and expected sale date of the loan. Loans held for sale measured at
fair value and sold to investors on a best efforts basis are hedged using best efforts forward delivery commitments and are valued using a proprietary database
program. The best efforts valuations are based on daily investor pricing tables stratified by product, note rate and term. These valuations are adjusted at the loan
level to consider the servicing release premium and loan pricing adjustments specific to each loan. Loans held for sale, excluding impaired loans, are classified as
Level 2. Loans held for sale measured at fair value that become impaired are transferred from Level 2 to Level 3, as the estimate of fair value is based on the
Company's experience considering lien position
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

and current status of the loan. There were no significant changes to the method and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of impaired loans in the period
ended September 30, 2011. LendingTree Loans recognizes interest income separately from other changes in fair value.

        Under LendingTree Loans' risk management policy, LendingTree Loans economically hedges the changes in fair value of IRLCs and loans held for sale
caused by changes in interest rates by using TBA MBS and entering into best efforts forward delivery commitments. These hedging instruments are recorded at
fair value with changes in fair value recorded in current earnings as a component of revenue from the origination and sale of loans. There were no significant
changes to the methods and assumptions for valuing hedging instruments in the period ended September 30, 2011. TBA MBS used to hedge both IRLCs and
loans are valued using quantitative risk models based primarily on inputs related to characteristics of the MBS stratified by product, coupon, and settlement date.
These derivatives are classified as Level 2. Best efforts forward delivery commitments are valued using a proprietary database program using investor pricing
tables considering the current base loan price. An anticipated loan funding probability is applied to value best efforts commitments hedging IRLCs, which results
in the classification of these contracts as Level 3. The current base loan price and the anticipated loan funding probability are the most significant assumptions
affecting the value of the best efforts commitments. The best efforts forward delivery commitments hedging loans held for sale are classified as Level 2, so such
contracts are transferred from Level 3 to Level 2 at the time the underlying loan is originated. For the purposes of the tables below, we refer to TBA MBS and
best efforts forward delivery commitments collectively as "Forward Delivery Contracts".

        The following presents Tree.com's assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 (in
thousands):
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  As of September 30, 2011  
  Recurring Fair Value Measurements Using  

  

Quoted Market
Prices in Active

Markets for
Identical

Assets
(Level 1)  

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)  

Total
Fair Value

Measurements  
Loans held for sale  $ — $ 184,987 $ 308 $ 185,295 
Interest rate lock commitments ("IRLCs")   —  —  12,747  12,747 
Forward delivery contracts   —  (2,898)  32  (2,866)
          

Total  $ — $ 182,089 $ 13,087 $ 195,176 
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TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

        The following presents the changes in Tree.com's assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):
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  As of December 31, 2010  
  Recurring Fair Value Measurements Using  

  

Quoted Market
Prices in Active

Markets for
Identical

Assets
(Level 1)  

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)  

Total
Fair Value

Measurements  
Loans held for sale  $ — $ 115,024 $ 884 $ 115,908 
Interest rate lock commitments ("IRLCs")   —  —  5,986  5,986 
Forward delivery contracts   —  1,001  3  1,004 
          

Total  $ — $ 116,025 $ 6,873 $ 122,898 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2011  

  

Interest Rate
Lock

Commitments  

Forward
Delivery

Contracts  

Loans
Held for

Sale  
Balance at July 1, 2011  $ 6,278 $ 220 $ 861 
 Transfers into Level 3   —  —  72 
 Transfers out of Level 3   —  (257)  — 

 

Total net gains (losses) included in earnings
(realized and unrealized)   40,680  69  (83)

 Purchases, sales, and settlements           
  Purchases   —  —  — 
  Sales   —  —  (538)
  Settlements   (2,255)  —  (4)
 Transfers of IRLCs to closed loans   (31,956)  —  — 
        

Balance at September 30, 2011  $ 12,747 $ 32 $ 308 
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NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)
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Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2011  

  

Interest Rate
Lock

Commitments  

Forward
Delivery

Contracts  

Loans
Held for

Sale  
Balance at January 1, 2011  $ 5,986 $ 3 $ 884 
 Transfers into Level 3   —  —  732 
 Transfers out of Level 3   —  (215)  — 

 

Total net gains (losses) included in earnings
(realized and unrealized)   81,847  302  (86)

 Purchases, sales, and settlements           
  Purchases(a)   970  (58)  — 
  Sales   —  —  (1,041)
  Settlements   (8,252)  —  (181)
 Transfers of IRLCs to closed loans   (67,804)  —  — 
        

Balance at September 30, 2011  $ 12,747 $ 32 $ 308 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

(a) Purchased in conjunction with the acquisition of certain assets of SurePoint.

  
Three Months Ended
September 30, 2010  

  

Interest Rate
Lock

Commitments  

Forward
Delivery

Contracts  

Loans
Held for

Sale  
Balance at July 1, 2010  $ 10,848 $ (20) $ 957 
 Transfers into Level 3   —  —  378 
 Transfers out of Level 3   —  (17)  — 

 

Total net gains (losses) included in earnings
(realized and unrealized)   33,683  20  (34)

 Purchases, sales, and settlements           
  Purchases   —  —  — 
  Sales   —  —  (262)
  Settlements   (3,533)  —  (3)
 Transfers of IRLCs to closed loans   (30,749)  —  — 
        

Balance at September 30, 2010  $ 10,249 $ (17) $ 1,036 
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NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

 

        The following presents the gains (losses) included in earnings for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 relating to Tree.com's
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):
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Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2010  

  

Interest Rate
Lock

Commitments  

Forward
Delivery

Contracts  

Loans
Held for

Sale  
Balance at January 1, 2010  $ 3,680 $ 487 $ 777 
 Transfers into Level 3   —  —  640 
 Transfers out of Level 3   —  109  — 

 

Total net gains (losses) included in earnings
(realized and unrealized)   83,752  (613)  (111)

 Purchases, sales, and settlements           
  Purchases   —  —  — 
  Sales   —  —  (262)
  Settlements   (12,250)  —  (8)
 Transfers of IRLCs to closed loans   (64,933)  —  — 
        

Balance at September 30, 2010  $ 10,249 $ (17) $ 1,036 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
Three Months

Ended September 30, 2011  
Nine Months

Ended September 30, 2011  

  

Interest Rate
Lock

Commitments  

Forward
Delivery

Contracts  

Loans
Held

for Sale  

Interest Rate
Lock

Commitments  

Forward
Delivery

Contracts  

Loans
Held

for Sale  
Total net gains (losses) included in earnings,

which are included in discontinued operations $ 40,680 $ 69 $ (83) $ 81,847 $ 302 $ (86)
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Change in unrealized gains (losses) relating to
assets and liabilities still held at
September 30, 2011, which are included in
discontinued operations  $ 12,747 $ 32 $ — $ 12,747 $ 32 $ (44)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

 

        The following table summarizes the Company's derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments as of September 30, 2011 and December 31,
2010 (in thousands):

        The gain/(loss) recognized in the consolidated statements of operations for derivatives for the periods ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 was as follows (in
thousands):

        Tree.com has elected to account for loans held for sale originated on or after January 1, 2008 at fair value. Electing the fair value option allows a better offset
of the changes in fair values of the loans and the forward delivery contracts used to economically hedge them without the burden of complying with the
requirements for hedge accounting.
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Three Months

Ended September 30, 2010  
Nine Months

Ended September 30, 2010  

  

Interest Rate
Lock

Commitments  

Forward
Delivery

Contracts  

Loans
Held

for Sale  

Interest Rate
Lock

Commitments  

Forward
Delivery

Contracts  

Loans
Held

for Sale  
Total net gains (losses) included in earnings,

which are included in discontinued operations $ 33,683 $ 20 $ (34) $ 83,752 $ (613) $ (111)
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Change in unrealized gains (losses) relating to
assets and liabilities still held at
September 30, 2010, which are included in
discontinued operations  $ 10,249 $ (17) $ (112) $ 10,249 $ (17) $ 2 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  September 30, 2011  December 31, 2010  
  Balance Sheet Location  Fair Value  Balance Sheet Location  Fair Value  
Interest Rate Lock

Commitments  
Current assets of discontinued

operations  $ 12,784 
Current assets of discontinued

operations  $ 5,991 
Forward Delivery

Contracts  
Current assets of discontinued

operations   323 
Current assets of discontinued

operations   2,633 
Interest Rate Lock

Commitments  
Current liabilities of discontinued

operations   (37)
Current liabilities of discontinued

operations   (5)
Forward Delivery

Contracts  
Current liabilities of discontinued

operations   (3,189)
Current liabilities of discontinued

operations   (1,629)
          

Total Derivatives    $ 9,881   $ 6,990 
    

 
   

 
 

    Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended  

  

Location of Gain/(Loss)
Recognized

in Income on Derivative  
September 30,

2011  
September 30,

2010  
September 30,

2011  
September 30,

2010  
Interest Rate Lock Commitments  Discontinued operations  $ 40,680 $ 33,683 $ 81,847 $ 83,752 
Forward Delivery Contracts  Discontinued operations   (3,262)  3,252  (3,818)  (3,905)
            

 Total    $ 37,418 $ 36,935 $ 78,029 $ 79,847 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

        Tree.com did not elect the fair value option on loans held for sale originated prior to January 1, 2008 and on loans that were repurchased from investors on or
subsequent to that date. As of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, -0- and 23 such loans, respectively, all of which were impaired, were included in loans
held for sale and were carried at the lower of cost or market ("LOCOM") value assessed on an individual loan basis. The market value (or fair value) of these
impaired loans at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, measured on a non-recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), was $-0- and
$0.8 million, respectively. This fair value measurement is management's best estimate of the market value of such loans and considers the lien position and loan
status. During the nine months ended September 30, 2011, fifteen impaired loans were sold for $1.2 million, which approximated the net book value.

        The following presents the difference between the aggregate principal balance of loans held for sale for which the fair value option has been elected and for
loans measured at LOCOM as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 (in thousands):

 

        During the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, the change in fair value of loans held for sale for which the fair value option was elected was a
gain of $3.7 million and $5.5 million, respectively, and is included in discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Loan Loss Obligations

        LendingTree Loans sells loans it originates to investors on a servicing released basis so the risk of loss or default by the borrower is generally transferred to
the investor. However, LendingTree Loans is required by these investors to make certain representations relating to credit information, loan
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  As of September 30, 2011  

  

Loans Held
for Sale—

Measured at
Fair Value  

Loans Held
for Sale—

Measured at
LOCOM  

Total Loans
Held For

Sale  
Aggregate unpaid principal balance  $ 177,471 $ — $ 177,471 
Difference between fair value and aggregate

unpaid principal balance   7,824  —  7,824 
        

Loans held for sale  $ 185,295 $ — $ 185,295 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  As of December 31, 2010  

  

Loans Held
for Sale—

Measured at
Fair Value  

Loans Held
for Sale—

Measured at
LOCOM  

Total Loans
Held For

Sale  
Aggregate unpaid principal balance  $ 113,116 $ 2,290 $ 115,406 
Difference between fair value and aggregate

unpaid principal balance   2,792  —  2,792 
Lower of cost or market valuation allowance   —  (1,508)  (1,508)
Deferred loan fees, net of costs   —  (9)  (9)
        

Loans held for sale  $ 115,908 $ 773 $ 116,681 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

documentation and collateral. These representations and warranties may extend through the contractual life of the mortgage loan. Subsequent to the sale, if
underwriting deficiencies, borrower fraud or documentation defects are discovered in individual mortgage loans, LendingTree Loans may be obligated to
repurchase the respective mortgage loan or indemnify the investors for any losses from borrower defaults if such deficiency or defect cannot be cured within the
specified period following discovery.

        In the case of early loan payoffs and early defaults on certain loans, LendingTree Loans may be required to repay all or a portion of the premium initially
paid by the investor. The estimated obligation associated with early loan payoffs and early defaults is calculated based on historical loss experience by type of
loan.

        The obligation for losses related to the representations and warranties and other provisions discussed above is initially recorded at its estimated fair value,
which includes a projection of expected future losses as well as a market based premium. Because LendingTree Loans does not service the loans it sells, it does
not maintain nor have access to the current balances and loan performance data with respect to the individual loans previously sold to investors. Accordingly, the
Company is unable to determine, with precision, its maximum exposure under its representations and warranties. However, LendingTree Loans utilizes the
original loan balance (before it was sold to an investor), historical and projected loss frequency and loss severity ratios by loan type as well as analyses of losses
in process to estimate its exposure to losses on loans previously sold. The Company maintains a liability related to this exposure based, in part, on historical and
projected loss frequency and loss severity using its loan loss history (adjusted for recent trends in loan loss experience), the original principal amount of the loans
previously sold, the year the loans were sold, and loan type. Accordingly, subsequent adjustments to the obligation, if any, are not made based on changes in the
fair value of the obligation, which might include an estimated change in losses that may be expected in the future, but are made once further losses are determined
to be both probable and estimable. As such, given current general industry trends in mortgage loans as well as housing prices, market expectations around losses
related to the Company's obligations could vary significantly from the obligation recorded as of the balance sheet date or the range estimated below. In estimating
its exposure to loan losses, LendingTree Loans segments its loan sales into four segments based on the extent of the documentation provided by the borrower to
substantiate income and/or assets (full or limited documentation) and the lien position of the mortgage in the underlying property (first or second position). Each
of these segments has a different loss experience with full documentation, first lien position loans generally having the lowest loss ratios and limited
documentation, second lien position loans generally having the highest loss ratios.
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NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

        The following table represents the loans sold for the period shown and the aggregate loan losses through September 30, 2011:

        The pipeline of 219 loan repurchase requests and indemnifications as of September 30, 2011 was considered in determining the appropriate reserve amount.
The status of these 219 loans varied from an initial review stage, which may result in a rescission of the request, to in process, where the probability of incurring a
loss is high, to indemnification, whereby the Company has agreed to reimburse the purchaser of that loan if and when losses are incurred. The indemnification
may have a specific term, thereby limiting the Company's exposure. The original principal amount of these loans is approximately $44.3 million, comprised of
approximately 80% full documentation first liens, 2% full documentation second liens, 15% limited documentation first liens, and 3% limited documentation
second liens.

        In the fourth quarter of 2009, LendingTree Loans entered into settlement negotiations with two buyers of previously purchased limited documentation loans.
The settlement with one buyer was completed in December 2009 and included a payment of $1.9 million related to all second lien loans sold to this buyer,
including both full and limited documentation. This amount was not determined on an individual loan basis and is, therefore, not included in the loss amounts
disclosed above based on the year such loans were sold. The settlement was included as a charge off to the reserve in 2009. Negotiations with the second buyer
were completed in January 2010. This settlement of $4.5 million, which was paid in four equal quarterly installments in 2010, relates to all future losses on
limited documentation second lien loans sold to this buyer. LendingTree Loans must also pay an additional amount of up to $0.3 million in conjunction with this
settlement since it did not sell a certain volume of loans to this buyer in 2010. This amount is included in the total settlement amount and the estimated settlement
payments remaining to be paid. This settlement amount was included as a charge off to the reserve in 2010 and is not included in the table above.

        Based on historical experience, it is anticipated that the Company will continue to receive repurchase requests and incur losses on loans sold in prior years.
However, the two settlements discussed above will eliminate future repurchase requests from those buyers for the loan types included in those settlements. As of
September 30, 2011, LendingTree Loans estimated the range of remaining
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  As of September 30, 2011  

Period of Loan Sales  

Number of
loans
sold  

Original
principal
balance  

Number of
loans with

losses  

Original
principal
balance of
loans with

losses  

Amount of
aggregate

losses  
    (in billions)    (in millions)  (in millions)  
Nine months ended September 30, 2011   8,500 $ 1.8  — $ — $ — 
2010   12,400  2.8  3  0.7  0.1 
2009   12,800  2.8  3  0.8  0.1 
2008   11,000  2.2  22  4.7  1.1 
2007   36,300  6.1  149  20.2  7.3 
2006   55,000  7.9  202  23.4  13.0 
2005 and prior years   86,700  13.0  87  11.7  4.8 
            

Total   222,700 $ 36.6  466 $ 61.5 $ 26.4 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

possible losses due to representations and warranty issues based on the methodology described above, excluding the $0.3 million settlement remaining to be paid
in 2011, as $25 million to $33 million. The Company believes that it has adequately reserved for these losses.

        The activity related to loss reserves on previously sold loans for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, is as follows (in thousands):

        Based on an analysis of the Company's historical loan loss experience, it has been determined that a portion of the loan losses expected to be made by
investors will be made more than twelve months following the initial sale of the underlying loans. Accordingly, the Company has estimated the portion of its
loans sold reserve that it anticipates it will be liable for after twelve months and has classified that portion of the reserve as a long-term liability. The liability for
losses on previously sold loans is presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 as follows (in
thousands):

Warehouse Lines of Credit

        Borrowings on warehouse lines of credit were $141.9 million and $100.6 million at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

        As of September 30, 2011, LendingTree Loans had two committed lines of credit totaling $150.0 million of borrowing capacity. LendingTree Loans also had
a $25.0 million uncommitted line
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Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2011  2010  
Balance, beginning of period  $ 16,984 $ 16,985 
Provisions   11,050  8,132 
Charge offs to reserves(a)   (1,014)  (10,172)
      

Balance, end of period  $ 27,020 $ 14,945 
  

 
 

 
 

(a) The nine months ended September 30, 2010 includes a charge off for the amount of the $4.5 million loan loss settlement
plus a portion of the $0.3 million additional accrual discussed above. The remaining settlement payment due of
$0.3 million is tracked as a liability separate from the loan loss reserve (see table below).

  

As of
September 30,

2011  

As of
December 31,

2010  
Current portion related to settlement above, included in

current liabilities of discontinued operations  $ 300 $ 300 
Other current portion, included in current liabilities of

discontinued operations   9,809  5,459 
Long term portion, included in non-current liabilities of

discontinued operations   17,211  11,525 
      

Total  $ 27,320 $ 17,284 
  

 
 

 
 



Table of Contents

TREE.COM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

with one of these lenders, which was terminated on October 31, 2011. In addition, LendingTree Loans obtained a third warehouse line for $100.0 million on
October 13, 2011 and increased the second line to $125.0 million on October 28, 2011, bringing the total borrowing capacity to $275.0 million. Borrowings under
these lines of credit are used to fund, and are secured by, consumer residential loans that are held for sale. Loans under these lines of credit are repaid using
proceeds from the sales of loans by LendingTree Loans.

        The $50.0 million first line is scheduled to expire on the earliest of (i) the closing date of the proposed asset sale transaction with Discover Bank or
(ii) January 30, 2012. On November 1, 2011, the terms of this line were amended so that it can be cancelled at the option of the lender at any time upon notice.
This first line included an additional uncommitted credit facility of $25.0 million, which was terminated on October 31, 2011. This first line is guaranteed by
Tree.com, Inc., LendingTree, LLC and LendingTree Holdings Corp. The interest rate under the first line is the 30-day London InterBank Offered Rate ("LIBOR")
or 2.00% (whichever is greater) plus 2.25%. The interest rate under the $25.0 million uncommitted line was the 30-day LIBOR plus 1.50%.

        The $100.0 million second line was scheduled to expire on October 28, 2011, but subsequent to September 30, 2011 the line was increased to $125.0 million
and the expiration date extended to the earliest of (i) forty-five days after the closing date of the proposed asset sale transaction with Discover Bank or
(ii) April 25, 2012. This line is also guaranteed by Tree.com, Inc., LendingTree, LLC and LendingTree Holdings Corp. Before the extension, the interest rate
under this line was the 30-day Adjusted LIBOR or 2.0% (whichever was greater) plus 2.25% to 2.5% for loans being sold to the lender and 30-day Adjusted
LIBOR or 2.0% (whichever was greater) plus 2.25% for loans not being sold to the lender. Upon extension of this line, the interest rate was changed to the 30-day
Adjusted LIBOR or 2.0% (whichever is greater) plus 1.5% to 1.75% for loans being sold to the lender and 30-day Adjusted LIBOR or 2.0% (whichever is
greater) plus 1.5% for loans not being sold to the lender.

        The $100.0 million third line is scheduled to expire on December 13, 2011. This line is guaranteed by Tree.com, Inc. and LendingTree, LLC. The interest
rate under this line is 30-day LIBOR plus 3.25% (LIBOR may be adjusted upward for any increase in the reserve requirement of the lender as further described in
the Master Repurchase Agreement).

        Under the terms of these warehouse lines, LendingTree Loans is required to maintain various financial and other covenants. These financial covenants
include, but are not limited to, maintaining (i) minimum tangible net worth of $20.0 million, which was increased to $25.0 million upon renewal of the first line in
November 2011 and the second line in October 2011, (ii) minimum liquidity, (iii) a minimum current ratio, (iv) a maximum ratio of total liabilities to net worth,
(v) a minimum unrestricted cash amount, (vi) pre-tax net income requirements and (vii) a maximum warehouse capacity ratio. During the quarter ended
September 30, 2011, LendingTree Loans was in compliance with the covenants under these lines.

        The LendingTree Loans business is highly dependent on the availability of these warehouse lines. Although we believe that our existing lines of credit are
adequate for our current operations, reductions in our available credit, or the inability to extend, renew or replace these lines before completion of the pending
sale of the operating assets of LendingTree Loans, would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Management has
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NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

determined that it could continue to operate the LendingTree Loans business at a reduced capacity as long as one of the warehouse lines remains available.

NOTE 7—EARNINGS PER SHARE AND STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

        The following table sets forth the computation of Basic and Diluted earnings per share:
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  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  2010  
  Basic  Diluted  Basic  Diluted  
  (In thousands, except per share data)  
Numerator:              
Loss from continuing operations  $ (3,685) $ (3,685) $ (7,538) $ (7,538)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax   16,283  16,283  9,357  9,357 
          

Net income available to common shareholders  $ 12,598 $ 12,598 $ 1,819 $ 1,819 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Denominator:              
Weighted average common shares   11,037  11,120  11,023  11,163 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Loss per Share:              
Loss from continuing operations  $ (0.33) $ (0.33) $ (0.68) $ (0.68)
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax   1.47  1.46  0.84  0.84 
          

Net income per common share  $ 1.14 $ 1.13 $ 0.16 $ 0.16 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  2010  
  Basic  Diluted  Basic  Diluted  
  (In thousands, except per share data)  
Numerator:              
Loss from continuing operations  $ (27,853) $ (27,853)  (23,036)  (23,036)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax   (16,863)  (16,863)  17,910  17,910 
          

Net loss available to common shareholders  $ (44,716) $ (44,716) $ (5,126) $ (5,126)
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Denominator:              
Weighted average common shares   10,978  10,978  10,993  10,993 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Loss per Share:              
Loss from continuing operations  $ (2.54) $ (2.54) $ (2.10) $ (2.10)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax   (1.53)  (1.53)  1.63  1.63 
          

Net loss per common share  $ (4.07) $ (4.07) $ (0.47) $ (0.47)
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NOTE 7—EARNINGS PER SHARE AND STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

        Non-cash compensation expense related to equity awards is included in the following line items in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations
for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

        The forms of stock-based awards granted to Tree.com employees are principally restricted stock units ("RSUs"), restricted stock and stock options. RSUs are
awards in the form of units, denominated in a hypothetical equivalent number of shares of Tree.com common stock and with the value of each award equal to the
fair value of Tree.com common stock at the date of grant. RSUs may be settled in cash, stock or both, as determined by the Compensation Committee at the time
of grant. Each stock-based award is subject to service-based vesting, where a specific period of continued employment must pass before an award vests. Certain
restricted stock awards also include performance-based vesting, where certain performance targets set at the time of grant must be achieved before an award vests.
Tree.com recognizes expense for all stock-based awards for which vesting is considered probable. For stock-based awards, the accounting charge is measured at
the grant date as the fair value of Tree.com common stock and expensed ratably as non-cash compensation over the vesting term. For performance-based awards,
the expense is measured at the grant date as the fair value of Tree.com common stock and expensed as non-cash compensation over the vesting period if the
performance targets are considered probable of being achieved.

        The amount of stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations is reduced by estimated forfeitures, as the amount
recorded is based on awards ultimately expected to vest. The forfeiture rate is estimated at the grant date based on historical experience and revised, if necessary,
in subsequent periods if the actual forfeiture rate differs from the estimated rate.
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Three Months
Ended

September 30,  

Nine Months
Ended

September 30,  
  2011  2010  2011  2010  
Cost of revenue  $ (1) $ (1) $ 3 $ 14 
Selling and marketing expense   50  18  314  141 
General and administrative expense   712  619  2,196  2,179 
Product development   63  20  218  89 
          

Non-cash compensation expense  $ 824 $ 656 $ 2,731 $ 2,423 
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NOTE 7—EARNINGS PER SHARE AND STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

        A summary of changes in outstanding stock options for the nine months ended September 30, 2011 is as follows:

        The following table summarizes the information about stock options outstanding and exercisable as of September 30, 2011:
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  Shares  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term  

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
      (In years)  (In thousands)  
Outstanding at January 1, 2011   952,669 $ 9.58       
Granted   153,868  5.89       
Exercised   (5,162)  4.14       
Forfeited   (7,633)  7.46       
Expired   (27,685)  9.17       
            

Outstanding at September 30, 2011   1,066,057 $ 9.10  6.2 $ 14 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Options exercisable at September 30,
2011   292,183 $ 12.22  4.1 $ 14 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  Options Outstanding  Options Exercisable  

Range of Exercise Prices  
Outstanding at

September 30, 2011  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life in Years  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price  
Exercisable at

September 30, 2011  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price  
$.01 to $4.99   6,580  1.84 $ 2.90  6,580 $ 2.90 
$5.00 to $7.45   161,983  9.14  5.92  8,115  6.53 
$7.46 to $9.99   726,303  6.24  8.30  106,297  7.56 
$10.00 to $14.99   43,103  1.67  12.30  43,103  12.30 
$15.00 to $19.99   81,425  3.65  15.03  81,425  15.03 
$20.00 to $24.99   46,663  3.69  20.19  46,663  20.19 
               

  1,066,057  6.16 $ 9.10  292,183 $ 12.22 
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NOTE 7—EARNINGS PER SHARE AND STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

        Nonvested RSUs and restricted stock outstanding as of September 30, 2011 and changes during the nine months ended September 30, 2011 were as follows:

NOTE 8—INCOME TAXES

        For the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, Tree.com recorded a tax provision (benefit) of $(0.2) million and $0.04 million, respectively,
which represents an effective tax rate of 4.8% and (0.6)%, respectively. The tax rates are lower than the federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to an increase
in the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets.

        For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, Tree.com recorded a tax provision of $0.1 million and $0.9 million, respectively, which represents
an effective tax rate of (0.4)% and (3.8)%, respectively. The tax rates are lower than the federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to an increase in the valuation
allowance on deferred tax assets.

        Tree.com's unrecognized tax benefits decreased by approximately $0.04 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011. The decrease was due to a
partial release of the reserves for uncertain tax positions. Tree.com believes that it is reasonably possible that its remaining unrecognized tax benefits could
decrease by approximately $0.06 million within twelve months of the current reporting date due to the expiration of state statute of limitations. An estimate of
other changes in unrecognized tax benefits cannot be made, but are not expected to be significant.

        For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, Tree.com determined that its activity yielded an unusual effective tax rate; therefore, Tree.com
utilized the actual year to date effective tax rate for purposes of determining year to date tax expense. This approach is consistent with the nine months ended
September 30, 2010.

        The North Carolina Department of Revenue ("NCDOR") has completed its audit of the Company's North Carolina corporate income and franchise tax
returns for the years ended December 31, 2006 through 2008, and issued a notice of assessment to the Company in October 2011. The range of possible loss is
estimated to be $-0- to $3.6 million. No reserve has been established for this matter as the Company has determined that the likelihood of a loss is not probable.
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  RSUs  Restricted Stock  

  
Number of

Shares  

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

Number of
Shares  

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

Nonvested at January 1, 2011   634,771 $ 7.53  412,500 $ 6.80 
Granted   371,618  7.07  24,642  5.55 
Vested   (255,094)  7.32  (137,500)  6.80 
Forfeited   (173,455)  7.57  —  — 
          

Nonvested at September 30, 2011   577,840 $ 7.36  299,642 $ 6.70 
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NOTE 9—CONTINGENCIES

        During the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, provisions for litigation settlements and contingencies of $5.2 million and $-0-, respectively,
were recorded in litigation settlements and contingencies in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The litigation matters were either settled, or
a firm offer for settlement was extended by the Company, thereby establishing an accrual amount that is both probable and reasonably estimable. The balance of
the related liability was $3.7 million and $0.5 million at September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

        The Massachusetts Division of Banks (the "Division") delivered to LendingTree, LLC on February 11, 2011 a Report of Examination/Inspection which
identified various alleged violations of Massachusetts and federal laws, including the alleged insufficient delivery by LendingTree, LLC of various disclosures to
its customers. On October 14, 2011, the Division provided a proposed Consent Agreement and Order to settle the Division's allegations, which the Division had
shared with other state mortgage lending regulators. Twenty-four of such state mortgage lending regulators (the "Joining Regulators") indicated that if
LendingTree, LLC would enter into the Consent Agreement and Order, they would agree not to pursue any analogous allegations that they otherwise might assert.
As of the date of this report, none of the Joining Regulators have asserted any such allegations.

        The proposed Consent Agreement and Order calls for a fine to be allocated among the Division and the Joining Regulators and for LendingTree, LLC to
adopt various new procedures and practices. We intend to commence negotiations toward an acceptable Consent Agreement and Order. We do not believe our
LendingTree Exchange violates any federal or state mortgage lending laws; nor do we believe that any past operations of the LendingTree Exchange have resulted
in a material violation of any such laws. Should the Division or any Joining Regulator bring any actions relating to the matters alleged in the February 2011
Report of Examination/Inspection, we intend to defend such actions vigorously. The range of possible loss is not estimable at this time, and no reserve has been
established for this matter as the Company has determined that the likelihood of a loss is not probable.

        In the ordinary course of business, Tree.com is a party to various lawsuits. Tree.com establishes reserves for specific legal matters when it determines that
the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome is probable and the loss is reasonably estimable. Management has also identified certain other legal matters for which it
believes an unfavorable outcome is not probable and, therefore, no reserve is established. If no reserve is established but the loss contingency is reasonably
possible, we disclose the nature of the contingency and the related estimate of possible loss or range of loss if such an estimate can be made. Although
management currently believes that an unfavorable resolution of claims against Tree.com, including claims where an unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible,
will not have a material impact on the liquidity, results of operations, or financial condition of Tree.com, these matters are subject to inherent uncertainties and
management's view of these matters may change in the future. It is possible that an unfavorable outcome of one or more of these lawsuits could have a material
impact on the liquidity, results of operations, or financial condition of Tree.com. Tree.com also evaluates other contingent matters, including tax contingencies, to
assess the probability and estimated extent of potential loss.

NOTE 10—RESTRUCTURING EXPENSE

        Restructuring expense in 2011 primarily relates to severance costs for headcount reductions in the corporate infrastructure departments. Restructuring
expense in 2010 primarily relates to continuing lease obligations on facilities previously used for call center operations, for which management had a
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NOTE 10—RESTRUCTURING EXPENSE (Continued)

plan to exit at December 31, 2009, but the cease-use date did not occur until January 2010. Costs that relate to ongoing operations are not part of restructuring
expense. Restructuring expense by type are as follows (in thousands):

 

 

 

        Restructuring expense and payments against liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

        At September 30, 2011, restructuring liabilities of $0.7 million are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and $1.0 million are included in
other long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. At December 31, 2010, restructuring liabilities of $1.2 million are included in accrued
expenses and other current liabilities and $1.2 million are included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Tree.com does
not expect to incur significant additional costs related to the restructurings noted above.
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For The Three Months Ended

September 30, 2011  

  

Employee
Termination

Costs  

Continuing
Lease

Obligations  
Asset

Write-offs  Total  
Restructuring expense  $ 396 $ 86 $ 16 $ 498 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
For The Three Months Ended

September 30, 2010  

  

Employee
Termination

Costs  

Continuing
Lease

Obligations  
Asset

Write-offs  Total  
Restructuring expense  $ 46 $ — $ — $ 46 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
For The Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2011  

  

Employee
Termination

Costs  

Continuing
Lease

Obligations  
Asset

Write-offs  Total  
Restructuring expense  $ 888 $ 86 $ 16 $ 990 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
For The Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2010  

  

Employee
Termination

Costs  

Continuing
Lease

Obligations  
Asset

Write-offs  Total  
Restructuring expense  $ 162 $ 2,463 $ 93 $ 2,718 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
For The Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2011  

  

Employee
Termination

Costs  

Continuing
Lease

Obligations  
Asset

Write-offs  Total  
Balance, beginning of period  $ 19 $ 2,339 $ — $ 2,358 
 Restructuring expense   888  86  16  990 
 Payments   (663)  (925)  —  (1,588)
 Write-offs   —  22  (16)  6 
          

Balance, end of period  $ 244 $ 1,522 $ — $ 1,766 
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Item 2.    Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

        This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements also include statements related to our anticipated
financial performance, business prospects and strategy; anticipated trends and prospects in the various industries in which our businesses operate; new products,
services and related strategies; and other similar matters. These forward looking statements are based on management's current expectations and assumptions
about future events, which are inherently subject to uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict. The use of words such as
"anticipates," "estimates," "expects," "projects," "intends," "plans" and "believes," among others, generally identify forward-looking statements.

        Actual results could differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements. Factors currently known to management that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking statements include those matters discussed in Part II, Item 1A—Risk Factors.

        Other unknown or unpredictable factors that could also adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations may arise from time to
time. In light of these risks and uncertainties, the forward-looking statements discussed in this report may not prove to be accurate. Accordingly, you should not
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which only reflect the views of Tree.com management as of the date of this report. We undertake no
obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to future operating
results or expectations, except as required by law.

Management Overview

        Tree.com is the parent of LendingTree, LLC which owns several brands and businesses that provide information, tools, advice, products and services for
critical transactions in our customers' lives. Our family of brands includes: LendingTree.com®, GetSmart.com®, DegreeTree.comSM, HealthTree.comSM,
LendingTreeAutos.com, DoneRight.com®, and InsuranceTree.comSM. Together, these brands serve as an ally for consumers who are looking to comparison shop
for loans and other services from multiple businesses and professionals that will compete for their business.

        Through the quarter ended March 31, 2011, we operated in two reportable business segments: LendingTree Loans and Exchanges. The LendingTree Loans
segment originates, processes, approves and funds various residential real estate loans through Home Loan Center, Inc. dba LendingTree Loans ("HLC"). The
HLC and LendingTree Loans brand names are collectively referred to in these consolidated financial statements as "LendingTree Loans." The Exchanges segment
consists of online lead generation networks and call centers that connect consumers and service providers principally in the lending, higher education, home
services, insurance and automobile marketplaces.

        In connection with entering into an agreement in the second quarter of 2011 that provides for the sale of substantially all of the operating assets of our
LendingTree Loans segment to Discover Bank that is discussed below and in Notes 1 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company re-evaluated its
reporting segments based on the continuing operations of the Company. We have determined that our continuing operations are now one reportable segment,
which represents the previous "Exchanges" segment.

        Additionally, on March 10, 2011, management of the Company made the decision and finalized a plan to close all of the field offices of the proprietary full
service real estate brokerage business known as RealEstate.com, REALTORS®. The Company exited all markets by March 31, 2011.
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        Finally, in September 2011, the Company sold the remaining assets of RealEstate.com, which consisted primarily of internet domain names and trademarks,
for $8.3 million and recognized a gain on sale of $7.8 million.

        The businesses of RealEstate.com and RealEstate.com, REALTORS® (which together represent the former Real Estate segment) and LendingTree Loans are
presented as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for all periods presented. The following discussion, unless otherwise
noted, excludes information related to the discontinued operations.

        From time to time, we may evaluate the potential acquisition of various assets and other businesses that may complement our current services, enhance our
capabilities, improve or sustain our competitive position, or otherwise offer growth opportunities. From time to time, we may also consider the potential
disposition of certain of our assets, subsidiaries or lines of businesses. We typically publicly announce any material acquisitions or dispositions when a definitive
agreement has been reached.

Recent Mortgage Interest Rate Trends

        Interest rate and market risk can be substantial in the mortgage lead generation business. Fluctuations in interest rates drive consumer demand for new
mortgages and the level of refinancing activity, which in turn affects lender demand for mortgage leads. Typically, a decline in mortgage interest rates will lead to
reduced lender demand for leads, as there are more consumers in the marketplace and lenders receive more organic lead volume. Conversely, an increase in
mortgage interest rates will lead to an increase in lender demand for leads, as there are fewer consumers in the marketplace and the overall supply of mortgage
leads decreases.

        Average 30-year fixed mortgage rates hit a low of 4.2% in November 2010, but swiftly increased to 5.0% by year-end. Consequently, the number of
mortgage leads dropped off significantly at the end of 2010 and in the first quarter of 2011. Mortgage rates then declined in the second and third quarters of 2011
to below 4.0%, which resulted in an increase in the number of mortgage leads generated in the second and third quarters.

Real Estate Market

        The operations, cash flows and financial position of the Company were negatively impacted by the continued deterioration in the housing market in 2010
and early 2011. In particular, revenue has been negatively impacted by falling home prices and increased foreclosures. While nationwide sales of existing homes
have risen in recent months, most of the increase is due to a rise in foreclosure sales and distressed transactions. Overall home prices continued to decline during
2011 and most economic forecasts indicate that conditions are unlikely to improve significantly in 2012. Falling home prices also make it more difficult to make
accurate home value appraisals and lenders typically require higher down payments and higher credit scores, which could further restrict the pool of prospective
homebuyers.

Expenses

        The Company has focused on expense savings and is taking various initiatives to reduce costs. During the first quarter of 2011, the Company commenced a
voluntary severance plan for certain corporate employees. In addition, the Company has taken steps to minimize ineffective marketing costs and dynamically
align marketing expenses with lender demand for leads.

Discover Asset Sale

        On May 12, 2011, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "APA") with Discover Bank, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Discover
Financial Services. The APA provides for the
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sale of substantially all of the operating assets of HLC to Discover Bank. Under the terms of the APA, Discover Bank will pay approximately $55.9 million in
cash for the assets, subject to certain adjustments as described in the APA. $35.9 million is due upon the closing of the transaction and $10 million is due on each
of the first and second anniversaries of the closing, subject to certain conditions as described in the APA. Discover Bank generally will not assume liabilities of
the LendingTree Loans business that arose before the closing date. A portion of the initial purchase price payment will be held in escrow for certain liabilities that
will remain with the Company. The transaction is subject to various closing conditions, including regulatory approvals for Discover Bank. Subject to certain
exceptions stated in the APA, the Company has agreed to operate the LendingTree Loans business in the ordinary course until the closing of the acquisition.

        On November 7, 2011, Discover Bank elected to extend the end date upon which either party could terminate the Asset Purchase Agreement by 30 days to
December 8, 2011, and paid the required extension payment of $1.0 million to the Company's HLC, Inc. subsidiary. Discover Bank is permitted up to three
additional 30-day extensions in certain circumstances. Discover Bank must pay a $1.0 million extension fee to HLC, Inc. to exercise each of the second and third
extensions and a $2.0 million extension to exercise the fourth extension. All extension payments, including the one received in November, will be credited against
the purchase price due at closing. For a more complete discussion of the closing conditions, end date extension rights and associated fees, termination fees and
other provisions of the Asset Purchase Agreement, please see the Company's definitive proxy statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 2, 2011.

        Results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2010:

Revenue

        For the three months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010:

        Match fee revenue in 2011 decreased slightly from the same period in 2010. Overall matched requests decreased by 2%, from 282,000 in 2010 to 277,000 in
2011. This reflects an increase of 13% in home loan matches and an aggregate decline of 12% in matches for the new consumer vertical areas of higher education,
home services, insurance and automobile. As compared to 2010, the average fee for home loan matches declined by 24%, while the average match fee for the new
consumer verticals increased by 49%. The decline in home loan average match fee is due to a product shift toward purchase mortgage, which generates lower
revenue per matched lead than refinance. Purchase as a percentage of total mortgage matches increased from 41% in the third quarter of 2010 to 45% in the third
quarter of 2011. Additionally, revenue from closed loan fees decreased due to a previously announced shift in pricing on home loan related matches to increase
the average match fee while eliminating the closed loan fee.

        No single network lender accounts for revenue representing more than 10% of Tree.com's consolidated revenue for any periods presented.
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  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Match fees  $ 12,383 $ (475)  (4)% $ 12,858 
Closed loan fees   381  (1,275)  (77)%  1,656 
Other   337  (353)  (51)%  690 
           

Total revenue  $ 13,101 $ (2,103)  (14)% $ 15,204 
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        For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010:

        Match fee revenue in 2011 increased from the same period in 2010. Overall matched requests decreased by 4%, from 601,000 in 2010 to 579,000 in 2011.
This reflects a decrease of 5% in home loan matches and an aggregate decline of 3% in matches for the new consumer vertical areas of higher education, home
services, insurance and automobile. As compared to 2010, the average fee for home loan matches increased by 4%, while the average match fee for the new
consumer verticals increased by 31%. Additionally, revenue from match fees increased and closed loan fees decreased due to a previously announced shift in
pricing on home loan related matches to increase the average match fee while eliminating the closed loan fee.

        We do not presently record revenue in our Exchanges business for leads provided to Home Loan Center. Instead, we use a cost sharing approach for
marketing expenses, whereby the Exchange business and Home Loan Center share the marketing expense on a pro rata basis, based on the quantity of leads
received by each. Following completion of the sale to Discover Bank, Discover Bank will pay us for leads generated by the LendingTree Exchange, and that will
represent an additional source of revenue, with an associated increase in selling and marketing expenses. We expect revenue from Discover Bank to be accretive
to both gross and net margin.

Cost of revenue

        For the three months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010:

        Cost of revenue consists primarily of costs associated with compensation and other employee related costs (including stock-based compensation) related to
customer call centers, credit scoring fees, consumer incentive costs, and website network hosting and server fees.

        Cost of revenue in 2011 decreased from the same period in 2010 primarily due to decreases of $0.1 million in compensation and other employee related costs
and $0.1 million in licensing costs.

        For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010:
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  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Match fees  $ 41,045 $ 2,362  6% $ 38,683 
Closed loan fees   1,770  (5,238)  (75)%  7,008 
Other   1,136  (1,186)  (51)%  2,322 
           

Total revenue  $ 43,951 $ (4,062)  (8)% $ 48,013 
  

 
 

 
    

 
 

  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Cost of revenue  $ 1,001 $ (345)  (26)% $ 1,346 
As a percentage of total revenue   8%       9%

  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Cost of revenue  $ 3,529 $ (125)  (3)% $ 3,654 
As a percentage of total revenue   8%       8%
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        Cost of revenue in 2011 decreased slightly from the same period in 2010 primarily due to a decrease of $0.4 million in compensation and other employee
related costs, offset by increases of $0.3 million in credit scoring fees and licensing costs.

Selling and marketing expense

        For the three months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010:

        Selling and marketing expense consists primarily of advertising and promotional expenditures, fees paid to lead sources and compensation and other
employee related costs (including stock-based compensation) for personnel engaged in the sales function. Advertising and promotional expenditures primarily
include online marketing, as well as television, print and radio spending. Advertising production costs are expensed in the period the related ad is first run.

        Advertising expense is the largest component of selling and marketing expense and is comprised of the following:

        The Company decreased advertising expense in 2011 in response to interest rates that began declining in the second quarter of 2011. In a declining interest
rate environment, the incentive for consumers to come into the market to refinance is much higher, resulting in higher levels of organic traffic to both the
Company and for lenders and less demand for externally-generated leads. The Company reduced advertising expense by 42%, while matched requests decreased
only 2%. The decrease in other advertising above is primarily due to launching a new television campaign in 2010 that was not repeated in 2011.

        Tree.com anticipates that it will continue to adjust selling and marketing expenditures dynamically in relation to revenue producing opportunities and that
selling and marketing will continue to represent a high percentage of revenue as it continues to promote its brands both online and offline.

        For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010:
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  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Selling and marketing expense  $ 8,475 $ (4,469)  (35)% $ 12,944 
As a percentage of total revenue   65%       85%

  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Online  $ 4,085 $ (3,825)  (48)% $ 7,910 
Broadcast   2,520  (270)  (10)%  2,790 
Other   493  (949)  (66)%  1,442 
           

Total advertising expense  $ 7,098 $ (5,044)  (42)% $ 12,142 
  

 
 

 
    

 
 

  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Selling and marketing expense  $ 39,246 $ 345  1% $ 38,901 
As a percentage of total revenue   89%       81%
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        Advertising expense is the largest component of selling and marketing expense and is comprised of the following:

        The Company decreased advertising expense in 2011 in response to interest rates that began declining in the second quarter of 2011. In a declining interest
rate environment, the incentive for consumers to come into the market to refinance is much higher, resulting in higher levels of organic traffic to both the
Company and for lenders and less demand for externally-generated leads. Additionally, improvements in marketing efficiencies across several of our marketing
channels eliminated approximately $3 million of expense that was incurred in the second quarter of 2011 from future quarters.

        The 4% decrease in total advertising expense corresponded to 4% fewer matched requests, and advertising expense increasing to 89% of revenue compared
to 81% for the same period in 2010. The increase in other advertising is primarily due to an increase in direct mail campaigns in 2011. The increase in 2011 also
reflects non-variable expense associated with expanding the marketing team and investing in marketing tools and technologies that began in the first quarter.

General and administrative expense

        For the three months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010:

        General and administrative expense consists primarily of compensation and other employee related costs (including stock-based compensation) for personnel
engaged in finance, legal, tax, corporate information technology, human resources and executive management functions, as well as facilities and infrastructure
costs and fees for professional services.

        General and administrative expense in 2011 decreased compared to the same period for 2010, primarily reflecting a $2.5 million decrease in compensation
and other employee-related costs (excluding non-cash compensation) due to lower headcount and incentive compensation. Professional fees and software costs
also decreased by $0.6 million and $0.3 million, respectively. Also impacting the 2010 general and administrative expenses was a $0.8 million reduction of
expense related to post acquisition adjustments, which was a result of the change in fair value of the estimated contingent consideration to be paid for business
acquisitions that were completed in 2009. These adjustments are shown as a reduction of expense within general and administrative expense, and are excluded
from our definition of Adjusted EBITDA. We expect further cost savings in future quarters related to the realignment of costs as we sharpen our focus on fewer
verticals.
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  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Online  $ 19,517 $ (4,401)  (18)% $ 23,918 
Broadcast   11,189  2,397  27%  8,792 
Other   4,143  540  15%  3,603 
           

Total advertising expense  $ 34,849 $ (1,464)  (4)% $ 36,313 
  

 
 

 
    

 
 

  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
General and administrative expense  $ 4,388 $ (1,907)  (30)% $ 6,295 
As a percentage of total revenue   33%       41%
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        For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010:

        General and administrative expense in 2011 decreased from the same period in 2010 primarily due to a $3.4 million decrease in compensation and other
employee related costs (excluding non-cash compensation) due to lower headcount and incentive compensation. Professional fees and software costs also each
decreased by $0.7 million. Also impacting the general and administrative expenses was a $0.7 million reduction of expense in 2011 and a $0.8 million reduction
of expense in 2010 related to the post acquisition adjustments discussed above.

Product development

        For the three months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010:

        Product development expense consists primarily of compensation and other employee related costs (including stock-based compensation) for personnel
engaged in the design, development, testing and enhancement of technology that are not capitalized.

        Product development expense in 2011 decreased from the same period in 2010 due to reduced headcount and contractor costs.

        For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010:

        Product development expense in 2011 increased slightly from 2010 due to increased contractor costs.

42

  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
General and administrative expense  $ 15,059 $ (3,607)  (19)% $ 18,666 
As a percentage of total revenue   34%       39%

  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Product development  $ 681 $ (124)  (15)% $ 805 
As a percentage of total revenue   5%       5%

  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Product development  $ 2,677 $ 123  5% $ 2,554 
As a percentage of total revenue   6%       5%
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Operating loss

        For the three months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010:

        Operating loss in 2011 decreased from the same period in 2010 primarily due to the decreases in selling and marketing expense and general and
administrative expense, offset by the decrease in revenue, discussed above.

        For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010:

        Operating loss in 2011 increased from the same period in 2010 primarily due to $5.2 million in litigation settlements and contingency expense recorded in
2011.

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization

        Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization ("Adjusted EBITDA") is a non-GAAP measure and is defined in "Tree.com's
Principles of Financial Reporting". Below is a
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  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Operating loss  $ (3,760) $ 3,676  49% $ (7,436)
As a percentage of total revenue   (29)%       (49)%

  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
    (Dollars in thousands)  
Operating loss  $ (27,470) $ (5,669)  (26)% $ (21,801)
As a percentage of total revenue   (63)%       (45)%
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reconciliation of operating loss to EBITDA from continuing operations and Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations, and operating loss to net income
(loss).

        For the three months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2010:

        Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations in 2011 increased from the same period in 2010, reflecting the decreased selling and marketing expenses and
general and administrative expenses as described above, to better align our costs with revenue.

        For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2010:
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Three Months Ended

September 30,  
Nine Months Ended

September 30,  
  2011  2010  2011  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Operating loss  $ (3,760) $ (7,436) $ (27,470) $ (21,801)
Adjustments to reconcile to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA:              
 Amortization of intangibles   213  307  787  922 
 Depreciation   1,393  823  3,677  2,297 
          

EBITDA from continuing operations   (2,154)  (6,306)  (23,006)  (18,582)
 Restructuring expense   498  46  990  2,718 
 Asset impairments   —  —  250  — 
 Loss on disposal of assets   99  —  211  3 
 Non-cash compensation   824  656  2,731  2,423 
 Litigation settlements and contingencies   212  74  5,206  102 
 Post acquisition adjustments   —  (849)  (652)  (849)
          

Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations  $ (521) $ (6,379) $ (14,270) $ (14,185)
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Reconciliation to net loss:              
Operating loss per above  $ (3,760) $ (7,436) $ (27,470) $ (21,801)
Other expense, net   (110)  (60)  (266)  (385)
          

Loss before income taxes   (3,870)  (7,496)  (27,736)  (22,186)
Income tax provision   185  (42)  (117)  (850)
          

Net loss from continuing operations   (3,685)  (7,538)  (27,853)  (23,036)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax   16,283  9,357  (16,863)  17,910 
          

Net income (loss)  $ 12,598 $ 1,819 $ (44,716) $ (5,126)
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
  (Dollars in thousands)  
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing

operations  $ (521) $ 5,858  92% $ (6,379)
As a percentage of total revenue   (4)%       (42)%

  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2011  $ Change  % Change  2010  
    (Dollars in thousands)  
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing

operations  $ (14,270) $ (85)  (1)%$ (14,185)
As a percentage of total revenue   (32)%       (30)%
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        Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations in 2011 was flat compared to the same period in 2010, reflecting a decrease in revenue for the first quarter of
2011 and a decrease in general and administrative expense as described above, to better align our costs with revenue.

Income tax provision

        For the three months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, Tree.com recorded a tax provision (benefit) of $(0.2) million and $0.04 million, respectively,
which represents an effective tax rate of 4.8% and (0.6)%, respectively. The tax rates are lower than the federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to an increase
in the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets.

        For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 and 2010, Tree.com recorded a tax provision of $0.1 million and $0.9 million, respectively, which represents
an effective tax rate of (0.4)% and (3.8)%, respectively. The tax rates are lower than the federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to an increase in the valuation
allowance on deferred tax assets.

        Tree.com's unrecognized tax benefits decreased by approximately $0.04 million for the three months ended September 30, 2011. The decrease was due to a
partial release of the reserves for uncertain tax positions. Tree.com believes that it is reasonably possible that its remaining unrecognized tax benefits could
decrease by approximately $0.06 million within twelve months of the current reporting date due to the expiration of state statute of limitations. An estimate of
other changes in unrecognized tax benefits cannot be made, but are not expected to be significant.

        For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2011, Tree.com determined that its activity yielded an unusual effective tax rate; therefore, Tree.com
utilized the actual year to date effective tax rate for purposes of determining year to date tax expense. This approach is consistent with the nine months ended
September 30, 2010.

Discontinued Operations

        Revenue from discontinued operations in the third quarter of 2011 was $37.6 million, a decrease of 1% as compared to the third quarter 2010 revenue from
discontinued operations of $38.0 million. LendingTree Loans revenue was up $2.3 million compared to the third quarter of 2010 on 4% more closed units, and
revenue from the Real Estate business was down $2.7 million compared to the third quarter of 2010, reflecting the shutdown of the company-owned brokerage in
early 2011.

        LendingTree Loans benefited from lower marketing expenses as a result of lower interest rates and improved marketing efficiencies. Although LendingTree
Loans produced higher revenue in 2011 compared to the same period in 2010, gross margins were flat due to loan officer compensation regulations that drove a
$2.3 million increase in variable compensation costs. Loan officer compensation increased from 20% of total revenue at LendingTree Loans in the third quarter of
2010 to 25% of total revenue in the third quarter of 2011. In addition, general and administrative costs in discontinued operations in the third quarter of 2011 were
$1.2 million, or 16% higher than the third quarter of 2010. This increase was driven largely by the acquisition of certain assets of First Residential Mortgage
Network, Inc. dba SurePoint Lending that was completed in the first quarter of 2011, and partially offset by lower Real Estate fixed costs after the shutdown of
the company-owned brokerage in early 2011.

FINANCIAL POSITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

        As of September 30, 2011, Tree.com had $10.3 million of cash and cash equivalents and $13.0 million of restricted cash and cash equivalents, compared to
$68.8 million of cash and cash equivalents and $8.2 million of restricted cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2010. During the third quarter
LendingTree Loans utilized an additional $30 million of unrestricted cash for funding
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loans at LendingTree Loans. These loans were sold in October 2011, and the proceeds were returned to LendingTree Loans as unrestricted cash. LendingTree
Loans elected to fund loans with its own cash in order to take advantage of the positive refinance market conditions as it reached borrowing capacity on its
warehouse lines. LendingTree Loans has now increased its warehouse lines as discussed below.

Cash Flows from Continuing Operations

        Net cash used in operating activities was $20.9 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2011, compared to $30.1 million used in operating activities
in the same period in 2010. The change from cash used in operating activities in 2010 to cash used by operating activities in 2011 was primarily due to a
$4.8 million increase in the net loss from continuing operations, offset by a $16.0 million increase in accounts payable and other current liabilities, which
principally related to litigation payments of $12.8 million that were made in the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and managing working capital more
closely in 2011.

        Net cash used in investing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2011 of $7.0 million primarily resulted from capital expenditures of
$5.5 million. Net cash used in investing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2010 of $1.6 million primarily resulted from capital expenditures of
$3.7 million, offset by the release of restricted cash of $2.2 million.

        Net cash used in financing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2011 of $4.3 million was primarily due to increased restricted cash
requirements and the vesting of stock to employees (less withholding taxes). Net cash used by financing activities in the nine months ended September 30, 2010
of $5.1 million was primarily due to purchases of treasury stock of $4.7 million.

Warehouse Lines of Credit for LendingTree Loans

        As of September 30, 2011, LendingTree Loans had two committed lines of credit totaling $150.0 million of borrowing capacity. LendingTree Loans also had
a $25.0 million uncommitted line with one of these lenders, which was terminated on October 31, 2011. In addition, LendingTree Loans obtained a third
warehouse line for $100.0 million on October 13, 2011 and increased the second line to $125.0 million on October 28, 2011, bringing the total borrowing capacity
to $275.0 million. Borrowings under these lines of credit are used to fund, and are secured by, consumer residential loans that are held for sale. Loans under these
lines of credit are repaid using proceeds from the sales of loans by LendingTree Loans.

        The $50.0 million first line is scheduled to expire on the earliest of (i) the closing date of the proposed asset sale transaction with Discover Bank or
(ii) January 30, 2012. On November 1, 2011, the terms of this line were amended so that it can be cancelled at the option of the lender at any time upon notice.
This first line included an additional uncommitted credit facility of $25.0 million, which was terminated on October 31, 2011. This first line is guaranteed by
Tree.com, Inc., LendingTree, LLC and LendingTree Holdings Corp. The interest rate under the first line is the 30-day London InterBank Offered Rate ("LIBOR")
or 2.00% (whichever is greater) plus 2.25%. The interest rate under the $25.0 million uncommitted line was the 30-day LIBOR plus 1.50%.

        The $100.0 million second line was scheduled to expire on October 28, 2011, but subsequent to September 30, 2011 the line was increased to $125.0 million
and the expiration date extended to the earliest of (i) forty-five days after the closing date of the proposed asset sale transaction with Discover Bank or
(ii) April 25, 2012. This line is also guaranteed by Tree.com, Inc., LendingTree, LLC and LendingTree Holdings Corp. Before the extension, the interest rate
under this line was the 30-day Adjusted LIBOR or 2.0% (whichever was greater) plus 2.25% to 2.5% for loans being sold to the lender and 30-day Adjusted
LIBOR or 2.0% (whichever was greater) plus 2.25% for loans not being sold to the lender. Upon extension of this line, the interest rate was changed to the 30-day
Adjusted LIBOR or 2.0% (whichever is greater) plus 1.5% to 1.75% for loans being sold to the lender and
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30-day Adjusted LIBOR or 2.0% (whichever is greater) plus 1.5% for loans not being sold to the lender.

        The $100.0 million third line is scheduled to expire on December 13, 2011. This line is guaranteed by Tree.com, Inc. and LendingTree, LLC. The interest
rate under this line is 30-day LIBOR plus 3.25% (LIBOR may be adjusted upward for any increase in the reserve requirement of the lender as further described in
the Master Repurchase Agreement).

        Under the terms of these warehouse lines, LendingTree Loans is required to maintain various financial and other covenants. These financial covenants
include, but are not limited to, maintaining (i) minimum tangible net worth of $20.0 million, which was increased to $25.0 million upon renewal of the first line in
November and the second line in October 2011, (ii) minimum liquidity, (iii) a minimum current ratio, (iv) a maximum ratio of total liabilities to net worth, (v) a
minimum unrestricted cash amount, (vi) pre-tax net income requirements and (vii) a maximum warehouse capacity ratio. During the quarter ended September 30,
2011, LendingTree Loans was in compliance with the covenants under these lines.

        The LendingTree Loans business is highly dependent on the availability of these warehouse lines. Although we believe that our existing lines of credit are
adequate for our current operations, reductions in our available credit, or the inability to renew or replace these lines, would have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Management has determined that it could continue to operate the LendingTree Loans business at a reduced
capacity as long as one of the warehouse lines remains available. We believe that our sources of liquidity are sufficient to fund our operating needs, including
operation of the LendingTree Loans business through a sale to Discover Bank, and including all debt requirements, commitments and contingencies, and capital
and investing commitments for the foreseeable future. However, the operations of our LendingTree Loans business through completion of the transaction with
Discover Bank have a significant impact on our liquidity, and the results of such operations are highly dependent on interest rates. If interest rates increase above
current levels before completion of a transaction with Discover Bank, or if such transaction is not completed, we may need to take more aggressive actions to
manage our working capital, sell certain assets or seek equity or debt financing. We cannot assure you that, in such a situation, we would be able to sell assets or
raise equity or debt financing on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Moreover, the asset purchase agreement with Discover Bank contains certain covenants and
conditions that may limit our ability to take certain of these actions without the consent of Discover Bank while the sale transaction is pending. Additionally, we
anticipate that we will want to make capital and other expenditures in connection with the development and expansion of our overall operations. We intend to use
proceeds from the sale of this LendingTree Loans business to fund these expenditures. If such proceeds are not sufficient after payments of transaction-related
expenses and amounts held in escrow or otherwise restricted, we may seek equity or debt financing. We cannot assure you that such financing will be available on
terms acceptable to us, or at all.

        Upon closing of the sale of substantially all of the operating assets of our LendingTree Loans business to Discover Bank, LendingTree Loans will cease to
originate consumer loans and will no longer have additional borrowings available under the warehouse lines of credit. The remaining operations will be wound
down over the quarter following the closing of the transaction. These wind-down activities include selling the balance of loans held for sale to investors, which
historically has occurred within thirty days of funding, and paying off and then terminating the lines of credit.

Seasonality

        Revenue is subject to the cyclical and seasonal trends of the U.S. housing market. Home sales typically rise during the spring and summer months and
decline during the fall and winter months. Refinancing and home equity activity is principally driven by mortgage interest rates as well as real
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estate values. The broader cyclical trends in the mortgage and real estate markets have upset the usual seasonal trends.

New Accounting Pronouncements

        Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for a description of recent accounting pronouncements.

TREE.COM'S PRINCIPLES OF FINANCIAL REPORTING 

        Tree.com reports Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization ("EBITDA"), and adjusted for certain items discussed below ("Adjusted
EBITDA"), as supplemental measures to GAAP. These measures are two of the primary metrics by which Tree.com evaluates the performance of its businesses,
on which its internal budgets are based and by which management is compensated. Tree.com believes that investors should have access to the same set of tools
that it uses in analyzing its results. These non-GAAP measures should be considered in addition to results prepared in accordance with GAAP, but should not be
considered a substitute for or superior to GAAP results. Tree.com provides and encourages investors to examine the reconciling adjustments between the GAAP
and non-GAAP measure discussed below.

Definition of Tree.com's Non-GAAP Measures

        Tree.com reports EBITDA as operating income or loss (which excludes interest expense and taxes) adjusted to exclude amortization of intangibles and
depreciation.

        Tree.com reports Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA excluding (1) non-cash compensation expense, (2) non-cash intangible asset impairment charges,
(3) gain/loss on disposal of assets, (4) restructuring expenses, (5) litigation settlements and contingencies, (6) pro forma adjustments for significant acquisitions or
dispositions, and (7) one-time items. Adjusted EBITDA has certain limitations in that it does not take into account the impact to Tree.com's statement of
operations of certain expenses, including depreciation, non-cash compensation and acquisition related accounting. Tree.com endeavors to compensate for the
limitations of the non-GAAP measure presented by also providing the comparable GAAP measure with equal or greater prominence and descriptions of the
reconciling items, including quantifying such items, to derive the non-GAAP measure.

Pro Forma Results

        Tree.com will include Adjusted EBITDA pro forma adjustments for significant acquisitions and dispositions only if it views a particular transaction as
significant in size or transformational in nature. For the periods presented in this report, there are no pro forma adjustments for significant acquisitions or
dispositions included in EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA.

One-Time Items

        Adjusted EBITDA is adjusted for one-time items, if applicable. Items are considered one-time in nature if they are non-recurring, infrequent or unusual, and
have not occurred in the past two years or are not expected to recur in the next two years, in accordance with SEC rules. For the periods presented in this report,
there are no adjustments for one-time items.

Non-Cash Expenses That Are Excluded From Tree.com's Non-GAAP Measures

        Non-cash compensation expense consists principally of expense associated with the grants of restricted stock units and stock options. These expenses are not
paid in cash, and Tree.com will include the related shares in its calculations of fully diluted shares outstanding. Upon vesting of restricted stock
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units and the exercise of certain stock options, the awards will be settled, at Tree.com's discretion, on a net basis, with Tree.com remitting the required tax
withholding amount from its current funds.

        Amortization and impairment of intangibles are non-cash expenses relating primarily to acquisitions. At the time of an acquisition, the intangible assets of
the acquired company, such as purchase agreements, technology and customer relationships, are valued and amortized over their estimated lives.

OTHER 

        REALTORS®—a registered collective membership mark that identifies a real estate professional who is a member of the National Association of
REALTORS® and subscribes to its strict Code of Ethics.

Item 3.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

        Under the rules and regulations of the SEC, as a smaller reporting company we are not required to provide the information required by this item.

Item 4.    Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

        As of the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) was performed under the supervision
and with the participation of the Company's management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer. Based on that evaluation, the
Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that due to a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting
related to income taxes as of December 31, 2010, as described in the Company's 2010 Form 10-K, the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are not
effective as of September 30, 2011. The Company has taken appropriate actions in 2011 to address and remediate the deficiencies that gave rise to the material
weakness, including evaluating our available resources to provide effective oversight of the work performed by our third party tax advisors and evaluating the
resources provided by the third party tax advisors. However, the material weakness will not be fully remediated until, in the opinion of management, the revised
control procedures have been operating for a sufficient period of time to provide reasonable assurances as to their effectiveness, and management does not believe
that a sufficient period of time has passed to make this determination.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

        Other than as noted above, there has been no change in the Company's internal controls over financial reporting during the third quarter of 2011 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal controls over financial reporting.
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PART II 

OTHER INFORMATION 

Item 1.    Legal Proceedings 

        In the ordinary course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries are parties to litigation involving property, contract, intellectual property and other
claims. We included a discussion of certain legal proceedings in Part I, Item 3, of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 (the
"2010 Form 10-K") and an update in Part II, Item 1, of our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2011 and June 30, 2011 ("1st and
2nd Quarter 2011 10-Qs"). During the quarter ended September 30, 2011, there were no material developments to the legal proceedings disclosed in the 2010
Form 10-K or 1st and 2nd Quarter 2011 10-Qs and no new material proceedings except as set forth below.

        Mortgage Store, Inc. v. LendingTree Loans d/b/a Home Loan Center, Inc., No. 06CC00250 (Cal. Super. Ct., Orange Cty.).    On November 30, 2006, The
Mortgage Store, Inc. and Castleview Home Loans, Inc. filed this putative class action against HLC in the California Superior Court for Orange County. Plaintiffs,
two former Network Lenders, allege that HLC interfered with LendingTree's contracts with Network Lenders by taking referrals from LendingTree. The
complaint is largely based upon the factual allegations made in the Schnee complaint (described in the 2nd Quarter 2011 10-Q). Based upon these factual
allegations, Plaintiffs assert claims for intentional interference with contractual relations, intentional interference with prospective economic advantage, and
violation of the California Unfair Competition Law ("UCL") and California Business and Professions Code § 17500. Plaintiffs purport to represent all Network
Lenders from December 14, 2004 to date, and seek damages, restitution, attorneys' fees, and punitive damages.

        Plaintiffs' motion for class certification was granted April 29, 2010. HLC's motion for summary judgment was filed April 12, 2011. On October 17, 2011
HLC's motion for summary judgment was granted.

        Boschma v. Home Loan Center, Inc., No. SACV07-613 (U.S. Dist. Ct., C.D. Cal.).    On May 25, 2007, Plaintiffs filed this putative class action against
HLC in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California. Plaintiffs allege that HLC sold them an option "ARM" (adjustable-rate mortgage) loan but
failed to disclose in a clear and conspicuous manner, among other things, that the interest rate was not fixed, that negative amortization could occur and that the
loan had a prepayment penalty. Based upon these factual allegations, Plaintiffs assert violations of the federal Truth in Lending Act (the "TILA"), violations of the
UCL, breach of contract, and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. Plaintiffs purport to represent a class of all individuals who between June 1,
2003 and May 31, 2007 obtained through HLC an option ARM loan on their primary residence located in California, and seek rescission, damages, attorneys' fees
and injunctive relief. Plaintiffs have not yet filed a motion for class certification. Plaintiffs have filed a total of eight complaints in connection with this lawsuit.
Each of the first seven complaints has been dismissed by the federal and state courts. Plaintiffs filed the eighth complaint (a Second Amended Complaint) in
Orange County (California) Superior Court on March 4, 2010 alleging only the fraud and UCL claims. As with each of the seven previous versions of Plaintiffs'
complaint, the Second Amended Complaint was dismissed in April 2010. Plaintiffs appealed and filed their opening brief in November 2010. Company's
responsive appellate brief was filed in February 2011. On August 10, 2011 the appellate court reversed the trial court's dismissal indicating that Plaintiffs'
complaint was sufficient to withstand demur despite Plaintiffs' lack of damages. The case will be remanded to superior court. We believe plaintiff's allegations
lack merit and we intend to defend against this action vigorously.

        Gaines v. Home Loan Center, Inc., No. SACV08-667 (U.S. Dist. Ct., C.D. Cal.).    On June 13, 2008, Plaintiffs filed this putative class action against HLC
and LendingTree in the U.S. District Court for the
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Central District of California. Plaintiffs allege, in essence, that (1) HLC failed to disclose that the bundled amount for certain loan closing services (called the
"TrueCost") that HLC charged to Plaintiffs was greater than HLC's actual costs for those services; (2) HLC's option ARM note failed to tell Plaintiffs that the
stated interest rate and payment amounts would change after the first month and that the payment amount stated in the note was not sufficient to pay interest
charges, resulting in negative amortization; and (3) HLC misrepresented that Plaintiffs would have to obtain a home equity line of credit in order to obtain a low
interest rate on their option ARM loans. Based upon these factual allegations, Plaintiffs assert violations of the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act ("RICO"), the TILA, the California UCL, California Business and Professions Code § 17500, the CLRA, breach of contract, breach of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, unjust enrichment, conversion, and money had and received.

        Plaintiffs purport to represent all HLC customers who, since December 14, 2004 (1) were charged by HLC and paid an amount that exceeded HLC's actual
costs for those services; and/or (2) entered into option ARM loan agreements with HLC; and/or (3) were misled into taking out a home equity line of credit along
with their option ARM mortgage. Plaintiffs seek restitution, disgorgement, damages, attorneys' fees and injunctive relief.

        A RICO claim, certain claims alleging problems involving home equity lines of credit and all contract-based claims were dismissed with prejudice in May,
2010. This lawsuit was scheduled for trial in April, 2011, but has been continued indefinitely.

Massachusetts Division of Banks

        The Massachusetts Division of Banks (the "Division") delivered to LendingTree, LLC on February 11, 2011 a Report of Examination/Inspection which
identified various alleged violations of Massachusetts and federal laws, including the alleged insufficient delivery by LendingTree, LLC of various disclosures to
its customers. On October 14, 2011, the Division provided a proposed Consent Agreement and Order to settle the Division's allegations, which the Division had
shared with other state mortgage lending regulators. Twenty-four of such state mortgage lending regulators (the "Joining Regulators") indicated that if
LendingTree, LLC would enter into the Consent Agreement and Order, they would agree not to pursue any analogous allegations that they otherwise might assert.
As of the date of this report, none of the Joining Regulators have asserted any such allegations.

        The proposed Consent Agreement and Order calls for a fine to be allocated among the Division and the Joining Regulators and for LendingTree, LLC to
adopt various new procedures and practices. We intend to commence negotiations toward an acceptable Consent Agreement and Order. We do not believe our
LendingTree Exchange violates any federal or state mortgage lending laws; nor do we believe that any past operations of the LendingTree Exchange have resulted
in a material violation of any such laws. Should the Division or any Joining Regulator bring any actions relating to the matters alleged in the February 2011
Report of Examination/Inspection, we intend to defend such actions vigorously.

Item 1A.    Risk Factors 

        Other than the risk factors set forth below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors included in Part I, Item 1A, of the 2010 Form 10-K.

Adverse Events and Trends—Adverse conditions in the credit markets could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

        The credit markets, in particular those financial institutions that provide warehouse financing and similar arrangements to mortgage lenders, have been
experiencing unprecedented and continued disruptions resulting from instability in the mortgage and housing markets. LendingTree Loans
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originates, processes, approves and funds various consumer mortgage loans through HLC, which operates primarily under the brand name "LendingTree
Loans®." These direct lending operations have significant financing needs that are currently being met through borrowings under warehouse lines of credit or
repurchase agreements to fund and close loans, followed by the sale of substantially all loans funded to investors in the secondary mortgage markets. Current
credit market conditions, such as significantly reduced and limited availability of credit, increased credit risk premiums for certain market participants and
increased interest rates generally, increase the cost and reduce the availability of debt and may continue for a prolonged period of time or worsen in the future.

        As of the date of this report, LendingTree Loans had three committed lines of credit totaling $275.0 million of borrowing capacity. One line with
$50.0 million of borrowing capacity expires on the earliest of (i) the closing date of the proposed asset sale with Discover Bank or (ii) January 30, 2012. Another
$125.0 million of borrowing capacity expires on the earliest of (i) forty-five days after the closing date of the proposed asset sale transaction with Discover Bank
or (ii) April 25, 2012, and a third warehouse line with $100.0 million of borrowing capacity expires on December 13, 2011. Each of these warehouse lines may be
terminated by the lender in certain circumstances. Borrowings under these lines of credit are used to fund, and are secured by, consumer residential loans that are
held for sale. Loans under these lines of credit are repaid using proceeds from the sales of loans by LendingTree Loans. At September 30, 2011, there was
$141.9 million outstanding under the lines of credit. See "Financial Position, Liquidity and Capital Resources" above for more information on our warehouse
lines.

        Although we believe that our existing lines of credit are adequate for our current operations, further reductions in our available credit, or the inability to
extend, renew or replace these lines before completion of the pending sale of the operating assets of LendingTree Loans, could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. LendingTree Loans attempts to mitigate the impact of current conditions and future credit market
disruptions by maintaining committed and uncommitted warehouse lines of credit with several financial institutions. However, these financial institutions, like all
financial institutions, are subject to the same adverse market conditions and may be affected by recent market disruptions, which may affect the decision to reduce
or renew these lines or the pricing for these lines. As a result, current committed warehouse lines of credit may be reduced or not renewed, and alternative
financing may be unavailable or inadequate to support operations or the cost of such alternative financing may not allow LendingTree Loans to operate at
profitable levels. Because LendingTree Loans is highly dependent on the availability of credit to finance its operations, the continuation of current credit market
conditions for a prolonged period of time or the worsening of such conditions could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations, particularly over the next few years. In addition, Discover Bank may terminate the agreement to acquire substantially all of the assets of our
LendingTree Loans business if, with respect to either of our committed warehouse lines we fail to make a payment when due with respect to any indebtedness
outstanding under any such agreement, we breach any other agreement, condition or covenant, relating to such indebtedness, or we obtain a waiver of any breach
of or failure to satisfy any agreement, condition or covenant contained in such agreement without the prior written consent of Discover Bank, subject to certain
exceptions.

Compliance and Changing Laws, Rules and Regulations—Failure to comply with past, existing or new laws, rules and regulations, or to obtain and maintain
required licenses, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

        Our businesses market and provide services in heavily regulated industries through a number of different online and offline channels across the United
States. As a result, our businesses have been and remain subject to a variety of statutes, rules, regulations, policies and procedures in various jurisdictions in the
United States, which are subject to change at any time. The failure of our
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businesses to comply with past, existing or new laws, rules and regulations, or to obtain and maintain required licenses, could result in administrative fines and/or
proceedings against us or our businesses by governmental agencies and/or litigation by consumers, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations and our brand.

        Our businesses conduct marketing activities via the telephone, the mail and/or through online marketing channels, which general marketing activities are
governed by numerous federal and state regulations, such as the Telemarketing Sales Rule, state telemarketing laws, federal and state privacy laws, the CAN-
SPAM Act, and the Federal Trade Commission Act and its accompanying regulations and guidelines, among others.

        Additional federal, state and in some instances, local, laws regulate residential lending activities. These laws generally regulate the manner in which lending
and lending-related activities are marketed or made available, including advertising and other consumer disclosures, payments for services and record keeping
requirements; these laws include the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act ("RESPA"), the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Truth in Lending Act, the Equal Credit
Opportunity Act, the Fair Housing Act and various state laws. State laws often restrict the amount of interest and fees that may be charged by a lender or
mortgage broker, or otherwise regulate the manner in which lenders or mortgage brokers operate or advertise.

        Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulatory requirements may result in, among other things, revocation of or inability to renew required licenses
or registrations, loss of approval status, termination of contracts without compensation, administrative enforcement actions and fines, private lawsuits, including
those styled as class actions, cease and desist orders and civil and criminal liability.

        Most states require licenses to solicit, broker or make loans secured by residential mortgages and other consumer loans to residents of those states, as well as
to operate real estate referral and brokerage services, and in many cases require the licensure or registration of individual employees engaged in aspects of these
businesses. In 2008, Congress mandated that all states adopt certain minimum standards for the licensing of individuals involved in mortgage lending or loan
brokering, and many state legislatures and state agencies are in the process of adopting or implementing additional licensing, continuing education, and similar
requirements on mortgage lenders, brokers and their employees. Compliance with these new requirements may render it more difficult to operate or may raise our
internal costs. While our businesses have endeavored to comply with applicable requirements, the application of these requirements to persons operating online is
not always clear. Moreover, any of the licenses or rights currently held by our businesses or our employees may be revoked prior to, or may not be renewed upon,
their expiration. In addition, our businesses or our employees may not be granted new licenses or rights for which they may be required to apply from time to time
in the future.

        Likewise, states or municipalities may adopt statutes or regulations making it unattractive, impracticable, or infeasible for our businesses to continue to
conduct business in that jurisdiction. The withdrawal from any jurisdiction due to emerging legal requirements could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

        Our businesses are also subject to various state, federal and/or local laws, rules and regulations that regulate the amount and nature of fees that may be
charged for transactions and incentives, such as rebates, that may be offered to consumers by our businesses, as well as the manner in which these businesses may
offer, advertise or promote transactions. For example, RESPA generally prohibits the payment or receipt of referral fees and fee shares or splits in connection with
residential mortgage loan transactions, subject to certain exceptions. The applicability of referral fee and fee sharing prohibitions to lenders and real estate
providers, including online networks, may have the effect of reducing the types and amounts of fees that may be charged or paid in connection with real estate-
secured loan offerings or activities, including mortgage brokerage, lending and real estate brokerage services, or otherwise limiting the ability to conduct
marketing and referral activities. Although we believe that our
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businesses have been structured in such a way so as to comply with RESPA, the relevant regulatory agency may take a contrary position.

        Various federal, state and in some instances, local, laws also prohibit unfair and deceptive sales practices. We have adopted appropriate policies and
procedures to address these requirements (such as appropriate consumer disclosures and call scripting, call monitoring, and other quality assurance and
compliance measures), but it is not possible to ensure that all employees comply with our policies and procedures at all times.

        As employers, our businesses are subject to federal and state employment laws. In particular, the Fair Labor Standards Act and California wage and hour
laws govern the treatment of "non-exempt" employees, which may include loan officers, underwriters, and loan processors at Home Loan Center, Inc. Failure to
comply with applicable employment laws may result in, among other things, administrative fines, class action lawsuits, damages awards and injunctions, any of
which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

        Compliance with these laws, rules and regulations is a significant component of our internal costs, and new laws, rules and regulations are frequently
proposed and adopted, requiring us to adopt new procedures and practices.

        Parties through which our businesses conduct business similarly may be subject to federal and state regulation. These parties typically act as independent
contractors and not as agents in their solicitations and transactions with consumers. We cannot ensure that these entities will comply with applicable laws and
regulations at all times. Failure on the part of a lender, secondary market purchaser, website operator or other third party to comply with these laws or regulations
could result in, among other things, claims of vicarious liability or a negative impact on the reputation of Tree.com and its businesses.

        Regardless of the effectiveness of our compliance activities, relevant regulatory authorities and private plaintiffs may allege that we failed to comply with
applicable laws, rules and regulations. These allegations may relate to past conduct and/or past business operations, such as our discontinued real estate brokerage
operations (which was subject to various state and local laws, rules and regulations). Even allegations that our activities have not complied or do not comply with
all applicable laws and regulations may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Such allegations typically require
legal fee expenditures to defend. We have in the past and may in the future decide to settle allegations of non-compliance with laws, rules and regulations when
we determine that the cost of settlement is less than the cost and risk of continuing to defend against an allegation. Settlements may require us to pay monetary
fines and may require us to adopt new procedures and practices, which may render it more difficult to operate or may raise our internal costs. The future
occurrence of one or more of these events could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The sale of LendingTree Loans assets to Discover Bank may not be completed unless important conditions to the closing are satisfied and unless we maintain
certain operational or financial metrics.

        Completion of the transaction with Discover Bank is subject to certain conditions, including receipt of regulatory approvals. If these conditions are not
satisfied or waived (to the extent permitted by law), the transaction may be delayed or may not occur, and we could lose some or all of the intended benefits of the
transaction, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition. Discover Bank may not receive the applicable
regulatory approvals, or governmental authorities may impose conditions upon the completion of the transaction or require changes in the terms of the
transaction. These conditions or changes could result in the termination of the asset purchase agreement or could have the effect of delaying the completion of the
transaction or
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imposing additional costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

        Additionally, the asset purchase agreement imposes on the Company covenants regarding maintenance of certain operational and financial metrics until the
closing of the transaction. If the requirements of these covenants are not met, Discover Bank has the option to terminate the asset purchase agreement, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

        Further, the purchase price for the assets is comprised of a payment of $35.9 million at closing and future contingent payments of $10 million on each of the
first and second anniversaries of the closing, subject to the Company satisfying certain conditions, including maintenance of the LendingTree Exchange and
certain financial and operational metrics. If these conditions are not met, these future contingent payments could be reduced or eliminated, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.
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        For more information on the conditions to the closing, see the proxy statement we prepared in connection with the solicitation of stockholder approval for
the transaction, which we filed with the SEC on August 2, 2011.

The transaction with Discover Bank may distract our management from other responsibilities.

        The transaction to sell assets of LendingTree Loans to Discover Bank could cause our management to focus its time and energies on matters related to the
transaction that otherwise would be directed to our business and operations.

Item 2.    Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

        The following table provides information about the Company's purchases of equity securities during the quarter ended September 30, 2011.
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Period  
Total Number of

Shares Purchased(1)  
Average Price
Paid per Share  

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or

Programs(2)  

Maximum
Number/Approximate
Dollar Value of Shares

that May Yet be
Purchased Under the

Plans or Programs
(in thousands)  

07/01/11 - 07/31/11   4,447 $ —  — $ 4,274 
08/01/11 - 08/31/11   2,557 $ —  — $ 4,274 
09/01/11 - 09/30/11   490 $ —  — $ 4,274 
          

Total   7,494 $ —  — $ 4,274 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

(1) During the quarter ended September 30, 2011, 7,494 shares of the Company's common stock were delivered by employees to satisfy
federal and state withholding obligations upon the vesting of restricted stock awards granted to those individuals under the Tree.com
Second Amended and Restated 2008 Stock and Award Incentive Plan. The withholding of those shares does not affect the dollar amount
or number of shares that may be purchased under the publicly announced plans or programs described below. 

(2) On January 11, 2010, the Company announced that its Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program for an amount up to
$10 million. The program authorizes repurchases of common shares in the open market or through privately-negotiated transactions. The
Company began this program in February 2010 and expects to use available cash to finance these repurchases. It will determine the
timing and amount of such repurchases based on its evaluation of market conditions, applicable SEC guidelines and regulations, and other
factors. This program may be suspended or discontinued at any time at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
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Item 6.    Exhibits 
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Exhibit  Description  Location
 2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement dated September 15, 2011

by and among LendingTree, LLC, RealEstate.com, Inc.
and Market Leader, Inc.*

 Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed September 21, 2011

 10.1 Bill of Sale  Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed September 21, 2011

 10.2 Assignment and Assumption Agreement  Exhibit 2.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed September 21, 2011

 10.3 Amendment No. 2 to Transactions Terms Letter dated
as of July 12, 2011, which supplements that certain
Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009
by and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and Bank of
America, N.A.

 Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed July 15, 2011

 10.4 Amendment No. 2 to Early Purchase Program
Addendum to Loan Purchase Agreement dated as of
July 12, 2011, which supplements that certain Loan
Purchase Agreement by and between Bank of America,
N.A. and Home Loan Center, Inc. dated April 16,
2002.

 Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed July 15, 2011

 10.5 Extension Letter Agreement dated as of August 11,
2011, regarding the Master Repurchase Agreement by
and between Bank of America, N.A. and Home Loan
Center, Inc. dated May 1, 2009

 Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed August 15, 2011

 10.6 Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of October 13,
2011, by and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and
Citibank, N.A.

 Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 19, 2011

 10.7 Pricing Side Letter dated as of October 13, 2011, by
and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and Citibank,
N.A.

 Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 19, 2011

 10.8 Amendment No. 3 to Transaction Terms Letter dated as
of September 30, 2011, which supplements that certain
Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009
by and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and Bank of
America, N.A

 Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 5, 2011
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Exhibit  Description  Location
 10.9 Amendment No. 7 to Master Repurchase Agreement

dated as of October 28, 2011, by and between Home
Loan Center, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

 †

 10.10 Amendment No. 5 to Side Letter dated as of
October 28, 2011, which supplements that certain
Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of October 30,
2009 by and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

 †

 10.11 Amendment No. 2 to Master Repurchase Agreement
dated as of November 1, 2011, which supplements that
certain Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of
May 1, 2009 by and between Home Loan Center, Inc.
and Bank of America, N.A

 †

 10.12 Amendment No. 4 to Transaction Terms Letter dated as
of November 1, 2011, which supplements that certain
Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009
by and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and Bank of
America, N.A

 †

 31.1 Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 †

 31.2 Certification of the principal financial officer pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 †

 32.1 Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 ††

 32.2 Certification of the principal financial officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 ††

 101.INS XBRL Instance Document  †††

 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document  †††

 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document

 †††
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Exhibit  Description  Location
 101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

Document
 †††

 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document †††

 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document

 †††

† Filed herewith 

†† This certification is being furnished solely to accompany this report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the registrant, whether
made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing. 

††† Furnished herewith. Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or
part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not
filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under
those sections. 

* Certain schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 6.01(b)(2). The Company agrees to furnish
supplementally a copy of all omitted schedules to the SEC upon its request.
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SIGNATURE 

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

Date: November 14, 2011
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  TREE.COM, INC.

  By:  /s/ CHRISTOPHER R. HAYEK

Christopher R. Hayek
Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer

(principal financial officer and
duly authorized officer)
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Exhibit  Description  Location
 2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement dated September 15, 2011

by and among LendingTree, LLC, RealEstate.com, Inc.
and Market Leader, Inc.*

 Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed September 21, 2011

 10.1 Bill of Sale  Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed September 21, 2011

 10.2 Assignment and Assumption Agreement  Exhibit 2.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed September 21, 2011

 10.3 Amendment No. 2 to Transactions Terms Letter dated
as of July 12, 2011, which supplements that certain
Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009
by and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and Bank of
America, N.A.

 Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed July 15, 2011

 10.4 Amendment No. 2 to Early Purchase Program
Addendum to Loan Purchase Agreement dated as of
July 12, 2011, which supplements that certain Loan
Purchase Agreement by and between Bank of America,
N.A. and Home Loan Center, Inc. dated April 16,
2002.

 Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed July 15, 2011

 10.5 Extension Letter Agreement dated as of August 11,
2011, regarding the Master Repurchase Agreement by
and between Bank of America, N.A. and Home Loan
Center, Inc. dated May 1, 2009

 Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed August 15, 2011

 10.6 Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of October 13,
2011, by and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and
Citibank, N.A.

 Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 19, 2011

 10.7 Pricing Side Letter dated as of October 13, 2011, by
and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and Citibank,
N.A.

 Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 19, 2011

 10.8 Amendment No. 3 to Transaction Terms Letter dated as
of September 30, 2011, which supplements that certain
Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009
by and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and Bank of
America, N.A

 Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 5, 2011
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Exhibit  Description  Location
 10.9 Amendment No. 7 to Master Repurchase Agreement

dated as of October 28, 2011, by and between Home
Loan Center, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

 †

 10.10 Amendment No. 5 to Side Letter dated as of
October 28, 2011, which supplements that certain
Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of October 30,
2009 by and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

 †

 10.11 Amendment No. 2 to Master Repurchase Agreement
dated as of November 1, 2011, which supplements that
certain Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of
May 1, 2009 by and between Home Loan Center, Inc.
and Bank of America, N.A

 †

 10.12 Amendment No. 4 to Transaction Terms Letter dated as
of November 1, 2011, which supplements that certain
Master Repurchase Agreement dated as of May 1, 2009
by and between Home Loan Center, Inc. and Bank of
America, N.A

 †

 31.1 Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 †

 31.2 Certification of the principal financial officer pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 †

 32.1 Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 ††

 32.2 Certification of the principal financial officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 ††

 101.INS XBRL Instance Document  †††

 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document  †††
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Exhibit  Description  Location
 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

Document
 †††

 101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document

 †††

 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document †††

 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document

 †††

† Filed herewith 

†† This certification is being furnished solely to accompany this report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the registrant, whether
made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing. 

††† Furnished herewith. Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or
part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not
filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under
those sections. 

* Certain schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 6.01(b)(2). The Company agrees to furnish
supplementally a copy of all omitted schedules to the SEC upon its request.





Exhibit 10.9
 

AMENDMENT NO. 7 TO MASTER REPURCHASE AGREEMENT
 

Dated as of October 28, 2011
 

Between:
 
HOME LOAN CENTER, INC., as Seller
 
and
 
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Buyer
 
1.                                      This Amendment
 

The Parties agree hereby to amend the Master Repurchase Agreement dated October 30, 2009 between them (the “Original MRA”, as amended by
Letter Agreement dated November 27, 2009, Amendment No. 1 to Master Repurchase Agreement dated March 11, 2010, Amendment No. 2 to Master
Repurchase Agreement dated March 11, 2010, Amendment No. 3 to Master Repurchase Agreement dated July 22, 2010, Amendment No. 4 to Master
Repurchase Agreement dated October 29, 2010, Amendment No. 5 to Master Repurchase Agreement dated March 31, 2011, Amendment No. 6 to Master
Repurchase Agreement dated June 29, 2011, and as further supplemented, amended or restated from time to time, the “MRA”) to provide for certain changes
to the MRA on the terms and conditions set forth herein, and they hereby amend the MRA as follows.

 
All capitalized terms used in the MRA and used, but not defined differently, in this amendment (this “Amendment”) have the same meanings here

as there.
 
The Paragraphs of this Amendment are numbered to correspond with the numbers of the Paragraphs in the MRA amended hereby and are

accordingly often nonsequential.
 

2.                                      Definitions; Interpretation
 

A.                                   The definition of “Termination Date” in Paragraph 2(a) of the MRA is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:
 

“Termination Date” means the earliest of (i) the Business Day, if any, that Seller designates as the Termination Date by written notice to
Buyer given at least thirty (30) days prior to such date, (ii) the date of declaration of the Termination Date pursuant to Paragraph 12(b), (iii) the
Business Day that Buyer designates as the Termination Date pursuant to Paragraph 11(aa), (iv) the first Business Day that is forty-five (45) days after
the closing of the Discover Financial Transaction and (v) April 25, 2012, as that date may be extended by written agreement of Buyer and Seller.
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5.                                      Accounts; Income Payments
 

A.                                   The first grammatical sentence of Paragraph 5(b) of the MRA is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:
 

Seller shall deposit into the Cash Pledge Account sums sufficient to cause the amount on deposit therein to be at all times an amount equal
to (i) $2,000,000 on and after the effective date of Amendment No. 7 to this Master Repurchase Agreement, and (ii) $4,000,000 on and after the date
of the closing of the Discover Financial Transaction (each such sum, herein the “Required Amount”).
 

11.                               Seller’s Covenants.
 

A.                                   Paragraph 11(x)(ii) of the MRA is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:
 

(ii)                                  Minimum Adjusted Tangible Net Worth.  Seller shall not permit the Adjusted Tangible Net Worth of Seller (and, if applicable, its
Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis), computed as of the end of each calendar month, to be less than $25,000,000.
 
B.                                     Paragraph 11(x)(viii) of the MRA is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows:
 

(viii)                        Net Income.  Commencing with the calendar quarter ending December 31, 2011, as of the end of each calendar quarter, Seller’s
cumulative quarterly net income before taxes shall not be less than $1.00 for two consecutive calendar quarters.

 
Exhibit C
 

Exhibit C is amended to (i) replace “$20,000,000” with “$25,000,000” in Item II (the “Required Minimum Adjusted Tangible Net Worth”), and
(ii) replace Item IX (Net Losses) with Item IX below:

 
IX.                                NET INCOME (tested each calendar quarter commencing December 31, 2011)
 

Cumulative net income for calendar quarter $
Cumulative net income for immediately preceding calendar
quarter

$

Minimum required Must be at least $1.00 for one
of the two quarters tested

In compliance? o Yes o No



 
[Signature Page Follows]
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As amended hereby, the MRA remains in full force and effect, and the Parties hereby ratify and confirm it.

 
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

 

  
  
By: /s/ John Greene

 

 

John Greene,
 

 

Underwriter and Assistant Vice President
 

 
 
HOME LOAN CENTER, INC.

 

  
  
By: /s/ Rian Furey

 

Name: Rian Furey
 

Title: SVP & COO
 

 
[Signature Page to Amendment No. 7 to Master Repurchase Agreement]

 



Exhibit 10.10
 

 
October 28, 2011

 
Home Loan Center, Inc.
163 Technology Drive
Irvine, California 92618
 
Attention:  Mr. Rian Furey
 

Re: Master Repurchase Agreement, dated as of October 30, 2009, between JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Buyer, and Home Loan
Center, Inc., as Seller and the related Side Letter of even date therewith

 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

This letter (this “Fifth Amendment to Side Letter”) amends, for the fifth time, the Side Letter dated October 30, 2009 (the “Original Side Letter”)
that was executed concurrently with the captioned Master Repurchase Agreement (as amended by Letter Agreement dated November 27, 2009, Amendment
No. 1 to Master Repurchase Agreement dated March 11, 2010, Amendment No. 2 to Master Repurchase Agreement dated March 11, 2010, Amendment No. 3
to Master Repurchase Agreement dated July 22, 2010, Amendment No. 4 to Master Repurchase Agreement dated October 29, 2010, Amendment No. 5 to
Master Repurchase Agreement dated March 31, 2011, and Amendment No. 6 to Master Repurchase Agreement dated June 29, 2011, collectively, the
“Agreement”).  Reference is here made to the Original Side Letter (as previously amended by Amendment No. 1 to Side Letter dated March 11, 2010, the
Second Amendment to Side Letter dated October 29, 2010, the Third Amendment to Side Letter dated March 31, 2011, and the Fourth Amendment to Side
Letter dated June 29, 2011, the “Amended Side Letter” and as amended hereby, the “Side Letter”) and the Agreement for all purposes.  Capitalized terms
defined in the Amended Side Letter or the Agreement and used but not defined differently in this Fifth Amendment to Side Letter have the same meanings
here as in the Amended Side Letter and the Agreement.

 
The Seller has requested, and the Buyer has agreed to increase the Facility Amount.  For good and valuable consideration received by each Party

from the other Party, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, effective as of the date of this Fifth Amendment to Side Letter, Buyer and
Seller hereby amend the Side Letter as follows:
 

1.                                       Commitment.  The text of Paragraph 1 of the Amended Side Letter is amended to read as follows:
 

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Agreement, Buyer agrees to enter into Transactions from time to time under the
Agreement, as supplemented by this Side Letter, with respect to Eligible Mortgage Loans having

 

 
a maximum aggregate Purchase Price outstanding at any one time of One Hundred Twenty-Five Million Dollars ($125,000,000) during the period
from the date hereof until the Termination Date (such maximum amount applicable from time to time as aforesaid, the “Facility Amount”).

 
The Parties further agree that they may increase or decrease the Facility Amount to any amount from time to time in the future by executing

a letter agreement stating the new Facility Amount and the period of time that it will be in effect.  If the Facility Amount is so increased at any time
or times, it shall be a condition precedent to each such increase’s becoming effective that the Seller first increase the deposit balance in the Cash
Pledge Account to the Required Amount (determined in accordance with Paragraph 5(b) of the Agreement) for such increased Facility Amount.

 
At the time of any reduction in the Facility Amount, whether pursuant to a letter agreement decreasing the Facility Amount or because the

time limit for any increase in the Facility Amount shall have expired, Seller shall be obligated, without notice or demand, to make a cash payment to
Buyer in an amount equal to the excess of the Aggregate Purchase Price over the reduced Facility Amount, to be applied by Buyer to reduce the
Repurchase Prices of Purchased Mortgage Loans that are then subject to outstanding Transactions.  The Guaranties shall not be reduced, limited,
canceled, terminated or impaired in any way by any such future change in the Facility Amount, whether or not the Guarantors concurrently execute a
confirmation of the Guaranties.

 
3.                                       Pricing Rate.  The first sentence of Paragraph 3 of the Side letter is amended to read as follows:
 

For purposes of the Agreement and all other Transaction Documents, “Pricing Rate” means for any Purchased Mortgage Loan as of any
date of determination, the following respective rates or if Buyer shall in Buyer’s sole discretion elect from time to time to give Seller a notice
specifying lower Pricing Rate(s) for a specified time period, such lower Pricing Rate(s) specified in such notice for the time period specified in such
notice:

 
(a)                                  for any CL Loan, the per annum percentage rate equal to the sum of (i) the greater of the Adjusted LIBOR Rate for such day and

two percent (2.00%) and (ii) one and one-half percent (1.50%);
 

(b)                                 for any CL Jumbo Loan, the per annum percentage rate equal to the sum of (i) the greater of the Adjusted LIBOR Rate for such
day and two percent (2.00%) and (ii) one and three-fourths percent (1.75%); and
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(c)                                  for any other Eligible Mortgage Loan, the per annum percentage rate equal to the sum of (i) the greater of the Adjusted LIBOR
Rate for such day and two percent (2.00%) and (ii) one and one-half percent (1.50%).

 
The definitions of “Adjusted LIBOR Rate”, “LIBOR Rate” and “Statutory Reserve Rate” set forth in Paragraph 3 of the Side Letter are not hereby amended
and continue to be defined as set forth in Paragraph 3 of the Side Letter.
 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Fifth Amendment to Side Letter, the amendment of the Amended Side Letter provided for above shall
not become effective until (i) the Parties have executed and delivered this Fifth Amendment to Side Letter, and (ii) the Guarantors have executed a
confirmation of the Guaranties in form and substance acceptable to Buyer.  Such amendment shall become effective automatically upon the last to occur of
the two events described in clauses (i) and (ii) of the immediately preceding sentence.

 
The Parties hereby ratify and confirm the Agreement and, as further amended hereby, the Amended Side Letter, to be in full force and effect.
 

(The remainder of this page is intentionally blank)
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Please confirm our mutual agreement as set forth herein and acknowledge receipt of this Fifth Amendment to Side Letter by executing the enclosed

copy of this letter and returning it to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 712 Main Street, 9  Floor, Houston, Texas 77002, Attention: John Greene (email
john.r.greene@jpmchase.com or fax (713) 216-2818).  If you have any questions concerning this matter, please contact me by email, or by phone at (713)
216-0255.

 
 

Very truly yours,
  
 

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
 

as Buyer
  
 

By: /s/ John Greene
  

John Greene
  

Underwriter and Assistant Vice President
 

CONFIRMED AND ACKNOWLEDGED:
 

  
HOME LOAN CENTER, INC.,

 

as Seller
 

  
By: /s/ Rian Furey

 

Name: Rian Furey
 

Title: SVP and COO
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Exhibit 10.11
 

 
AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO

MASTER REPURCHASE AGREEMENT
 

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 2 (the “Amendment”) is made and entered into as of November 1, 2011 by and between Bank of America, N.A. (“Buyer”) and
Home Loan Center, Inc. (“Seller”).  This Amendment amends and clarifies that certain Master Repurchase Agreement between Buyer and Seller dated May 1,
2009 (as may be amended from time to time, the “Repurchase Agreement”).  Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings
ascribed to such terms in the Repurchase Agreement.
 

R E C I T A L S
 

Pursuant to the Repurchase Agreement, Buyer and Seller have agreed to engage in Transactions whereby Seller may, from time to time, sell to Buyer
certain residential Mortgage Loans (including the servicing rights related thereto) and/or other mortgage related assets and interests, against the
transfer of funds by Buyer, with a simultaneous agreement by Buyer to sell to Seller such Purchased Assets at a date certain or on demand, against
the transfer of funds by Seller.  Buyer and Seller hereby agree that the Repurchase Agreement shall be amended as provided herein.
 

In consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, Buyer and Seller hereby agree as follows:
 
1.                                       Section 13.2 - Termination.  Buyer and Seller agree that Section 13.2 shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 

“13.2                     Termination.
 

(a)                                  Buyer may, with or without cause, terminate this Agreement at any time by providing notice to Seller.  Seller acknowledges and
understands that Buyer is under no obligation whatsoever to continue the term of this Agreement for any period of time and may
terminate this Agreement at any time for any reason.  By way of example but not limitation, Buyer may immediately terminate this
Agreement by providing notice to Seller if (i) this Agreement or any Transaction is deemed by a court or by statute to not
constitute a “repurchase agreement,” a “securities contract,” or a “master netting agreement,” as each such term is defined in the
Bankruptcy Code, (ii) payments or security offered hereunder are deemed by a court or by statute not to constitute “settlement
payments” or “margin payments” as each such term is defined in the Bankruptcy Code, (iii) this Agreement or any Transaction is
deemed by a court or by statute not to constitute an agreement to provide financial accommodations as described in Bankruptcy
Code Section 365(c)(1) or (iv) Buyer determines that there has been fraud, misrepresentation or any similar intentional conduct on
behalf of Seller, its officers, directors, employees, agents and/or its representatives with respect to any of Seller’s obligations,
responsibilities or actions undertaken in connection with this Agreement.

 

 
(b)                                 Upon termination of this Agreement for any reason, all outstanding amounts due to Buyer under the Principal Agreements shall be

immediately due and payable without notice to Seller and without presentment, demand, protest, notice of protest or dishonor, or
other notice of default, and without formally placing Seller in default, all of which are hereby expressly waived by Seller.  Further,
any termination of this Agreement shall not affect the outstanding obligations of Seller under this Agreement and all such
outstanding obligations and the rights and remedies afforded Buyer in connection therewith, including, without limitation, those
rights and remedies afforded Buyer under this Agreement, shall survive any termination of this Agreement.  Buyer shall not be
liable to Seller for any costs, loss or damages arising from or relating to a termination by Buyer in accordance with any subsection
of this Section 13.2.”

 
2.                                       No Other Amendments.  Other than as expressly clarified, modified and amended herein, the Repurchase Agreement shall remain in full force and

effect and nothing herein shall affect the rights, remedies and obligations of the parties as provided under the Repurchase Agreement.
 
3.                                       Capitalized Terms.  Any capitalized term used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the

Agreement.
 
4.                                       Facsimiles.  Facsimile signatures shall be deemed valid and binding to the same extent as the original.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Buyer and Seller have caused their names to be signed hereto by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date
first written above.

 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. HOME LOAN CENTER, INC.
  
  
By:

  

By:
 

    
Name:

 

Name:
 

    
Title:

 

Title:
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AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO

TRANSACTIONS TERMS LETTER
 

This AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO TRANSACTIONS TERMS LETTER (the “Amendment”) is made and entered into as of November 1, 2011 by and between
Bank of America, N.A. (“Buyer”) and Home Loan Center, Inc. (“Seller”). This Amendment amends that certain Transactions Terms Letter by and between
Buyer and Seller dated as of June 30, 2010 (the “Transactions Terms Letter”), which supplements that certain Master Repurchase Agreement by and between
Buyer and Seller dated as of May 1, 2009 (as may be amended from time to time, the “Agreement”).
 

R E C I T A L S
 

Buyer and Seller have previously entered into the Transactions Terms Letter and Agreement pursuant to which Buyer may, from time to time,
purchase certain mortgage loans from Seller and Seller agrees to sell certain mortgage loans to Buyer under a master repurchase facility.  Buyer and
Seller hereby agree that the Transactions Terms Letter shall be amended as provided herein.
 

In consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, Buyer and Seller hereby agree as follows:
 
1.                                       Expiration Date.  Buyer and Seller agree that the Expiration Date set forth within the Transactions Terms Letter shall be deleted in its entirety and

replaced with the following:
 

“Expiration Date:

 

The earlier of (i) the Closing Date, as defined in Section 4.1 of that certain Asset Purchase Agreement by
and among Tree.com, Inc, Home Loan Center, Inc., LendingTree, LLC and HLC Escrow, Inc. and
Discover Bank, dated May 12, 2011, or (ii) January 30, 2012 (the “Extension”), at which time the
Agreement will expire. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Agreement, following the
expiration date of such Extension, all indebtedness due Buyer under the Principal Agreements shall be
immediately due and payable without notice to Seller and without presentment, demand, protest, notice
of protest or dishonor, all of which are hereby expressly waived by Seller.”

 
2.                                       Minimum Over/Under Account Balance.  Buyer and Seller agree that the Minimum Over/Under Account Balance set forth within the

Transactions Terms Letter shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 

“Minimum Over/Under
 

 

Account Balance:
 

$2,250,000.
   
 

 

Seller to be entitled to interest on a monthly basis thereon at an annual rate of LIBOR plus the Type A
Margin over 30 day LIBOR spread on the positive monthly average Over/Under Balance for the portion
that is equal to or less than 20% of the average monthly outstanding Transactions for such month and;
Seller to be entitled to interest on a monthly basis at an annual rate of LIBOR minus twenty-five (25)
basis points (0.25%) on the remaining portion of the positive monthly average Over/Under Balance that
is greater than 20% but less than or equal to 75% of the average monthly outstanding Transactions for
such month.  For the purpose of this calculation, average outstanding

 

 
 

 

Transactions shall include EPP Loans under Seller’s EPP Addendum with Buyer.  “LIBOR” shall mean
the greater of (i) the daily rate per annum for one-month U.S. dollar denominated deposits as offered to
prime banks in the London interbank market or (ii) 2%, as applicable.”

 
3.                                       Financial Covenants.  Buyer and Seller agree that the Financial Covenants set forth within the Transactions Terms Letter shall be deleted in its

entirety and replaced with the following:
 

“Financial Covenants:
 

 

 

(a)                                  Minimum Tangible Net Worth (calculated per HUD guidelines): $25,000,000.
   
 

 

(b)                                 Minimum Liquidity: Seller to maintain unrestricted cash or unrestricted Cash Equivalents in a
minimum amount equal to 40% of Seller’s Tangible Net Worth, inclusive of the Over/Under
Account Balance and Available Warehouse Capacity. By way of example but not limitation,
cash in escrow and/or impound accounts shall not be included in this calculation. “Available
Warehouse Capacity” shall mean, the sum of (i) unused capacity under existing warehouse and
repurchase facilities between Seller and Buyer or any of its Affiliates and (ii) unused capacity
under existing committed warehouse and repurchase facilities between Seller and any Person
(other than Buyer or any of its Affiliates), where Seller has, in each case, unencumbered
collateral that can be pledged in transactions thereunder.

   
  

(c)                                  Seller to maintain a minimum of $10,000,000 in unrestricted cash at all times, inclusive of the



Over/Under Account Balance.
   
 

 

(d)                                 Maximum ratio of Total Liabilities and Warehouse Credit (Warehouse Credit is inclusive of
outstandings on warehouse lines, repurchase facilities or other off balance sheet financing) to
Tangible Net Worth: 8:1. (excluding the Early Purchase Program with Buyer)

   
 

 

(e)                                  Net Income:  Seller shall show positive pre-tax net income, on a quarterly basis.
   
 

 

(f)                                    Seller shall not add additional mortgage financing facilities (including warehouse, repurchase,
purchase or off-balance sheet facilities) without prior written notification to Buyer.

   
 

 

(g)                                 Payment of Dividends: Seller may not, without the prior written consent of Buyer, (a) declare or
pay dividends upon its shares of stock now or hereafter outstanding, including dividends
payable in the capital stock of Seller, or make any distribution of assets to its shareholders,
whether in cash, property or securities, or (b) acquire, purchase, redeem or retire shares of its
capital stock now or hereafter outstanding for value.

 
”

 

 
4.                                       Schedule 1.  Buyer and Seller agree that SCHEDULE 1 of the Transactions Terms Letter shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with the

following:
 

“
 

  

Type
Sublimit

 

Margin over 30
day LIBOR (B)

 

Type Purchase Price
Percentage (A)

 

Maximum
Dwell Time

 

Transaction
Requirements

           
Type A:
Conventional Conforming
Mortgage Loans (Agency eligible
1  mortgages with Full/Alt doc
types only)

 

100%  2.25  96.00  30 days  None

           
Type B:
Government Mortgage Loans
(1  mortgages only)

 

100%  2.25  96.00  30 days  None

           
Type B-1:
Bond Loans (1  mortgages only)

 

20%  2.25  96.00  45 days  None

           
Type C:
Jumbo Mortgage Loans
(1  mortgages only, maximum
loan amounts to $1,000,000)

 

10%  2.25  95.00  30 days  

Rate Lock and CLUES
or Prior Approval

           

Noncompliant Mortgage Loans
 

7%  

2.00 over the initial
margin

 See schedule 2  

Additional 45
days

  

           

Wet Mortgage Loans

 

40%, increasing to
60% for the first
and last five (5)
business days of

each month

 

Noncompliant or
default spreads, if

applicable, over the
initial Type Margin
over 30 day LIBOR

 

The initial Type
Purchase Price
Percentage. If

Transaction exceeds the
Wet Mortgage Loans

Maximum Dwell Time,
see Schedule 3

 5 business days   

 

(A) The Purchase Price shall be calculated and equal to multiplying the unpaid principal balance times the lesser of (i) the Type Purchase Price Percentage
times the lesser of par, takeout price or current market price or; (ii) 98% of the takeout price or current market price or fair market value. Seller will
have the ability to reduce the Type Purchase Price Percentage to no less than 10% once per month, not to be applied retroactively

(B) For the purpose of calculating the Margin over 30 day LIBOR, “LIBOR” shall mean the greater of (i) the daily rate per annum for one-month U.S.
dollar denominated deposits as offered to prime banks in the London interbank market or (ii) 2%, as applicable.

 
·                 All Transactions are to the closing table.
 
·                 Delegated underwriting status does not satisfy the Transaction Requirements contained herein.
 
·                 Transaction Requirement Definitions and Doc Type Definitions are set forth on Buyer’s website.
 
·                 All loan amounts, FICO scores, LTV/CLTV, and document types shall meet Correspondent Lending guidelines.
 

Loan amounts greater than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000):

st

st

st

st



Loans with unpaid principal balances greater than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) may be eligible subject to Buyer’s review and approval in its
sole discretion.

·                 The following items must be received at least two (2) business days prior to the Transaction request date.
(a)          copy of the 1003
(b)         copy of the 1008
(c)          copies of all appraisals
(d)         investor prior approval with all prior to close conditions cleared
(e)          copy of takeout commitment
(f)            copy of the borrower’s credit report(s)

 
”

 

 
5.                                       No Other Amendments; Conflicts with Previous Amendments.  Other than as expressly modified and amended herein, the Transactions Terms

Letter shall remain in full force and effect and nothing herein shall affect the rights and remedies of Buyer as provided under the Transactions Terms
Letter and Agreement. To the extent any amendments to the Transactions Terms Letter contained herein conflict with any previous amendments to
the Transactions Terms Letter, the amendments contained herein shall control.

 
6.                                       Capitalized Terms.  Any capitalized term used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the

Agreement.
 
7.                                       Facsimiles.  Facsimile signatures shall be deemed valid and binding to the same extent as the original.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Buyer and Seller have caused their names to be signed hereto by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date
first written above.  Buyer shall have no obligation to honor the terms and conditions of this Amendment if Seller fails to fully execute and return this
document to Buyer within thirty (30) days after the date hereof.

 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. HOME LOAN CENTER, INC.
  
By:

  

By:
 

    
Name:

 

Name:
 

    
Title:

 

Title:
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Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Douglas R. Lebda, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2011 of Tree.com, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Dated: November 14, 2011  /s/ DOUGLAS R. LEBDA

Douglas R. Lebda
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)
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Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a) OF THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Christopher R. Hayek, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2011 of Tree.com, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Dated: November 14, 2011  /s/ CHRISTOPHER R. HAYEK

Christopher R. Hayek
Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer

(principal financial officer)
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CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

        I, Douglas R. Lebda, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2011 of Tree.com, Inc. (the "Report") which this statement
accompanies fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d));
and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Tree.com, Inc.

Dated: November 14, 2011  /s/ DOUGLAS R. LEBDA

Douglas R. Lebda
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)
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CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

        I, Christopher R. Hayek, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

(1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2011 of Tree.com, Inc. (the "Report") which this statement
accompanies fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d));
and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Tree.com, Inc.

Dated: November 14, 2011  /s/ CHRISTOPHER R. HAYEK

Christopher R. Hayek
Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

(principal financial officer)
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